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Highlights 

Cxense unlocks the power of data so that our clients can build personal, profitable customer 

relationships.  

 

Cxense’s world leading Data Management Platform (DMP) with Intelligent Personalization enables businesses to 

gather, analyze and act on data in real-time to increase conversion and revenue across all digital platforms. Here 

is a look at some of our highlights from 2018:  

 

● Execution on strategy to focus on our growing Data Management with Intelligent Personalization core 

business as well as divestment of non-core assets  

● DMP and personalization offering strengthened with the acquisition of Enreach Solutions Oy and the launch 

of Conversion Engine for subscription optimization  

● New leadership team onboard including CPO, CCO, HR and CFO 

● The core DMP and Personalization offering delivered 18% revenue growth in 2018 over 2017 

● Cxense signed 79 recurring revenue contracts for DMP and Personalization solutions, of which 47% were 

with new customers and 53% upselling to existing clients 

● Significant full-year EBITDA improvement on higher gross margin and reduced cost base, partly offset by 

higher-than expected churn  

● A strategic plan to increase customer lifetime value and drive growth was launched in early 2019 and USD 10 

million raised in gross proceeds from rights issue to finance growth investments  

 

Key figures1 

 

 

                                                           

 

 

 

1 Quarterly figures are unaudited 

USD 1,000 Q1 2018 Q2 2018 Q3 2018 Q4 2018 2017 2018

DMP & Intelligent personalization 3,816           3,875           3,993           3,993           13,292         15,678         

SaaS Non-Core 1,423           1,243           1,077           815              7,197           4,557           

Revenues 5,239           5,118           5,070           4,808           20,488         20,234         

Gross margin 81 % 79 % 80 % 79 % 76 % 79 %

OPEX 4,661           4,544           5,230           5,334           27,150         19,770         

Non-IFRS OPEX adjustments (215)             259              (723)             (174)             (2,956)          (853)             

OPEX adjusted 4,446           4,803           4,507           5,160           24,194         18,916         

EBITDA (420)             (518)             (1,191)          (1,516)         (11,494)       (3,644)          

EBITDA adjusted (204)             (777)             (468)             (1,342)         (8,538)          (2,791)          
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Message from the CEO 

Data is the most valuable asset, and the ability to capture, analyze, enhance and act upon data is a key success 

factor for most businesses. At Cxense, we enable companies to do just that by applying our software to manage 

and analyze their customer data and utilize artificial intelligence (AI) to predict behaviors and outcomes. Then, by 

applying these insights to provide personalized and relevant offers and recommendations, we increase clients’ 

advertising revenue, subscription rates and product sales.  

Throughout 2018, we maintained focus on developing our growing Data Management Platform (DMP) with the 

Intelligent Personalization business. We acquired Enreach, a Finnish company we already had executed more 

than a dozen successful client cases with, to strengthen our DMP offering with new features and AI capabilities. 

We launched Cxense Conversion Engine for subscription and membership optimization, a solution based on the 

dynamic paywall developed through our long-standing cooperation with WSJ.com. Implementation of the EU’s 

General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) was also successfully executed across our platforms.   

Today, we enable some 200 clients world-wide to use their data to build personal, profitable customer 

relationships. These clients are publishers, digital media and ecommerce businesses that rely on us to provide 

insight into their customers and provide personalized recommendations and offers that increase revenue. We 

have successfully tapped into the trend of publishers joining forces in data alliances to better compete with 

Google and Facebook. We powered five such networks in Europe at year-end. Conversion Engine helps optimize 

paywall solutions for publishers and is also increasingly subject to interest from companies in the expanding 

subscription economy. 

Another key task going into 2018 was to strengthen the Cxense leadership team. I’m happy to say that at year-

end we established a new international management team with strong combined competencies within technology, 

products, markets, HR and finance. Together, we as a team established the new strategic plan which was 

launched in early 2019 with the goal to increase customer retention and new sales. The short version is – to 

invest in continued development of our core solutions and strengthen our sales and customer success team to 

increase customer life-time value and drive growth in our core market segments of publishing, digital media and 

the subscription economy. With support from our shareholders, we raised the capital needed to execute the plan.   

A year ago, we named 2018 “the year of the customer” to indicate our dedication to create world-leading solutions 

that our customers can rely on to solve some of their toughest business problems. By strengthening our core 

product offering we have made progress in accomplishing just that. Now, it is time to look ahead. With our 

international leadership team fully onboard, our clearly defined strategic direction and our world-leading solutions, 

we are positioned to increase our market share and grow our revenue even further.  

On behalf of Cxense and our entire staff, we look very much forward to 2019 and the years to come! 

 

Christian Printzell Halvorsen 

CEO, Cxense ASA 
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About Cxense 

 

COMPANY VISION 

“We unlock the power of data so that our clients can build personal, profitable customer relationships”  

 

 

CXENSE IN BRIEF 

Now more than ever before, publishers and brands want to build predictable, recurring revenue through 

subscriptions as well as a steadily growing advertising business. To do that, they’ll have to deliver content and 

offers that speak to individuals, not audiences. 

Cxense helps 200 leading publishers and marketers across the globe to do just that. Our Data Management 

Platform and Intelligent Personalization solutions harness the power of machine learning to help clients deliver a 

unique and relevant experience every time. 

The Cxense platform first puts clients in control of their data, organizing it into user profiles and segments. Then 

we use propensity models and machine-learning intelligence to understand and predict customer behavior in real 

time. Once applied, our solutions can infer a customer’s age, gender, and income bracket, along with associated 

interests and intent to purchase. The result is a set of very rich user profiles and a deep understanding of your 

customers on an aggregate and individual basis. 

Cxense powers article and product recommendations, subscription and membership optimization, data alliances, 

loyalty programs, targeted offers and many more in compliance with GDPR. By serving the right offer to the right 

customer at the right time, publishers and markers can build loyalty and increase revenues from both 

subscriptions and advertising. 

Cxense delivers its solution as a Software-as-a-Service model with a monthly license fee based on the volume of 

data processed. This enables clients to quickly get up and running without complex on-premise installations while 

establishing the foundation for a scalable, high-margin business model for the company. 

Simply put: Cxense helps publishers and marketers unlock the power of their data to build personal, profitable 

relationships with their customers. 
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THE CXENSE ADVANTAGE 

Cxense’s unique, real-time data platform assigns a specific profile to each user, then updates that profile every 

time they interact with site content. Algorithms calculate variables including what kind of content they watch, for 

how long and in what order, along with pertinent demographic information, and hand off the results to machine 

learning models that predict relevant user properties. 

From data capture through processing to actionable output, the Cxense platform operates in real time. 

Furthermore, it employs non-cookie identifiers to capture user data for the same consumer, across devices. By 

integrating the company’s flexible application programming interface (API), publishers and brands can get the 

most out of their first-party data and increase their bottom line in the way that’s right for them. 

Customers look to Cxense to future-proof their digital experiences. The company is uniquely positioned to help 

businesses integrate all relevant and actionable data, to provide a comprehensive view of how their users behave 

now, and how they are likely to act in the future. 

 

 

 

Analytics  

Cxense Insight provides real-time web site and mobile app analytics so that publishers and brands can constantly 

improve user experiences and maximize engagement with their content, ads, and offers. 

The solution captures all user interactions across desktop, tablet, and mobile devices, and displays the data in 

intuitive dashboards. Cxense Insight offers detailed traffic reports that detail how content is consumed, which 

external sites drive site traffic; how traffic is split across different devices, browsers, and operating systems; 

detailed information on page views and unique users; select timeframes and filters that help analyze traffic 

patterns; an analysis of how people navigate to individual articles, how much time they spend there and where 

they go next; and a summary of the keywords that characterize the article as well as how the article can drive 

recommendations and contextual ads. 

 

Data Management 

Cxense DMP (Data Management Platform) can aggregate, analyze, and segment massive quantities of data in 

real time. Publishers and brands can use the platform to combine their first-party data with second- and third-party 

data and create individual user profiles and custom audience segments. Thanks to its powerful machine-learning 
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models, the platform can also infer sociodemographic attributes and interests based on behavioral data and 

predict future behavior. Customers can then put their bespoke data mix to work across their sites and multi-

channel marketing plan to drive higher user engagement and revenue. Cxense DMP enables publishers and 

brands to drive advertising revenues through its rich user profiles and high-value segments. 

 

 

Personalization and Conversion Optimization 

Personalization drives engagement, sales and offers site owners robust and measurable ROI by providing every 

user with individually tailored experiences based on their online behavior and long-term interests. 

Building on this insight, Cxense Conversion Engine empowers brands and publishers to monetize insight into their 

audience’s behavior and preferences in order to increase loyalty, grow subscription revenues, and increase 

customer lifetime value. Using real-time data analysis and predictive modelling, Conversion Engine surfaces the 

content and product recommendations best suited for individual users. Cxense thereby enables its clients to use 

individual attributes, such as location, device, interests, or past purchase data in combination with a machine 

learning-powered propensity model to create personalized customer journeys for specific audience segments. 

 

This is especially relevant for the publishing industry where personalized messaging, convenience and a 

publisher’s ability to create a feeling of membership can influence a reader’s decision to become a loyal long-term 

subscriber. Whereas most publishers still use static paywalls with a one-size-fits-all approach, the algorithms 
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behind a dynamic paywall enabled by Conversion Engine analyzes user data in real-time before, determining how 

to meter access to content and when to offer discounts in return for subscriptions. Benefits include higher 

subscription conversion and reduced churn rates. 

A successful personalization strategy with substantial impact on the bottom line requires a data-driven approach 

and constant improvement. Therefore, A/B-testing is a vital element of Conversion Engine, ensuring optimized 

personalized offers and delivering incremental increases to customer lifetime value. 

 

PRIVACY AND INFORMATION SECURITY 

Privacy and data protection laws play a significant role for the business. Cxense is required to comply with the 

European Union’s General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) introduced on 25 May 2018. Cxense believes that 

GDPR is a timely and appropriate measure to strengthen consumer rights, especially with regards to privacy in a 

world that is becoming more and more digitalized. The company is convinced that the changes resulting from the 

new regulation will be positive for the industry as a whole and Cxense in particular as they improve transparency, 

consumer control, and ultimately support more trust by consumers in personalized services. 

Cxense believes in a user-centric approach to addressing privacy matters, empowering users to make informed 

decisions about the use of their data. Therefore, the company is committed to safeguarding its services and only 

provides them in a way that improves the end-user experience. The company takes user privacy very seriously 

and actively encourages clients to provide greater transparency and information about the collection and use of 

data. Please find the privacy policy on https://www.cxense.com/about-us/privacy-policy. For inquiries please e-

mail privacy@cxense.com. 

 

 

 

 

  

https://www.cxense.com/about-us/privacy-policy
mailto:privacy@cxense.com


Annual report 2018 

 

8  

Board of directors and key executives 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

 

LARS THORESEN  LIZA BENSON AZEEM AZHAR 

Chairman of the board 

Lars B. Thoresen is Senior Advisor at 

Verdane Capital. He was Managing 

Partner/Joint Managing Partner for Verdane 

Capital Advisors from 2008 to 2015. Mr. 

Thoresen joined Verdane Capital’s Oslo 

office in 1999. Verdane manages more than 

NOK 12 billion for Norwegian and 

international institutional investors, and has 

38 employees in their offices in Oslo, 

Stockholm, Copenhagen, Helsinki and 

London. At Verdane, he has been 

instrumental in the acquisition of several 

portfolios investments, as well as of individual 

companies, such as Skandia Life portfolio, 

Nordic Venture Partners, Ferd and EasyPark. 

He has also helped build and grow a number 

of portfolio companies from a board role, 

such as Opera Software AS, Liaison 

Technologies Inc., CRF Health Oy, and 

Napatech A/S. Mr. Thoresen is currently 

chairman of the board at NextGenTel ASA 

(listed OSE), and serves on the board of 

Napatech A/S, Arundo Analytics Inc, Carn 

Capital AS and INSEAD Alumni Assoc. Norw. 

He is also Advisor to Aprila Bank ASA. 

Lars Thoresen holds an MBA from INSEAD 

(France) and a BSc in Finance from St. 

John’s University, New York (USA). 

Board member 

Liza Benson is a partner at StarVest 

Partners, an expansion stage Venture Capital 

fund located in New York City with over USD 

400 million of assets under management.  

Before she joined StarVest, Ms. Benson was 

Managing Director of Highbridge Principals 

Strategies, focusing primarily on digital 

media, fintech and marketing technologies. 

At StarVest, Ms. Benson serves on the 

boards of Ceros, RAMP, Transactis and as a 

board observer for Xignite, OpenSlate, 

UrbanBound and CrowdTwist. 

Prior to joining Highbridge in 2008, Ms. 

Benson was a Managing Director at Bear 

Stearns’ Constellation Growth Capital.  In the 

past, she has also served on the boards of 

Widevine (sold to Google), Webify (sold to 

IBM), Siperian (sold to Informatica) and K12 

(Public Company on NYSE: LRN), each of 

which was successfully exited.  She also led 

an investment in Capital IQ which was sold to 

McGraw-Hill.  Previously, Ms. Benson was an 

investment banker at Patricof & Co. and First 

Union.  Ms. Benson received a BA in 

Mathematical Economics, summa cum laude, 

from Colgate University, where she was a 

Charles A. Dana Scholar. 

Board member 

Azeem Azhar has vast experience within AI, 

technology and startups through various 

engagements. Currently he is working as 

Senior Advisor for AI to the CTO of 

Accenture, sits in the editorial board of the 

Harvard Business Review, serves as Board 

Member at Cronycle (a news and information 

aggregation service tackling information 

overload and fake news) in addition to 

several other advisory engagements in the 

technology sector. Mr. Azhar previously held 

corporate roles at Reuters and the BBC and 

has served as editor at The Economist and 

The Guardian. In 2010, he founded 

PeerIndex where he applied machine 

learning to large-scale social media graphs to 

make predictions about web users. 

Mr. Azhar is also an investor in tech startups, 

particularly in the AI sector. He holds a 

Master of Arts (politics, philosophy and 

economics) degree from the University of 

Oxford. 

 

INGEBORG HEGSTAD  

 

MARTIN MORAN 

 

Board member 

Since 2015, Ingeborg Hegstad has been 

partner and owner of the consulting company 

Imsight, offering business, strategy and 

leadership advisory to executives, teams and 

organizations. She has 12 years of 

experience from McKinsey & Company, 

where she was Associate Partner working 

with retail, telecom and IT.  

Hegstad has also been a management 

consultant at Egon Zehnder, where she 

worked with executive search, coaching of 

executives and teams, organizational 

development and board work. She has 

extensive experience from working 

internationally, with organizations and 

executives in many countries in Europe and 

Asia. Hegstad holds a Master of Business 

and Administration from Norwegian Business 

School BI (2000). She is also a member of 

the board of Q-Free ASA. 

Board member 

Martin Moran is Managing Director for 

international business at Insidesales.com, 

where he is responsible for growth in EMEA 

and Asia Pacific. He brings more than 25 

years of experience in managing and growing 

business operations across a variety of 

industries in Europe and globally, with a 

proven track record for building high-

performance sales organizations. 

Prior to joining InsideSales.com, Mr. Moran 

served as General Manager and Senior Vice 

President for EMEA at Lumesse. Before 

joining Lumesse, he was responsible for 

global sales and delivery at ServiceSource 

International and at Salesforce. As its first 

employee in its EMEA organization, he 

helped grow Saleforce’s EMEA business to 

USD 300 million in annual revenue. He has 

also driven revenue growth for well-known 

technology companies like Oracle and 

Skype. Martin Moran holds an accountancy 

degree from Brunel University in London. 
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 EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT TEAM  

  

 

 

 

Christian Printzell Halvorsen, Chief 
Executive Officer 

 Jørgen Evjen, Chief Financial 
Officer 

 

 

 

David Gosen, Chief Commercial 
Officer 

 Ben Graham, Chief Product 
Officer 

 

 

 

Elisabeth Monrad-Hansen, Vice 
President, Human Resources 

 Greger Teigre Wedel, Chief 
Technology Officer 
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REGIONAL MANAGERS  

  

 

 

 

Birger Søiland, General Manager 
North America 

 

 Ryoichi Egawa, Senior Vice 
President Business Development 
and General Manager Japan 

 

 

 

Anne Roland, General Manager 
EMEA 

 

 Igor Minakov, Executive Vice 
President and General Manager 
Russia 

 

  

Gabriel D’Onofrio, General 
Manager Latin America 
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Report from the Board of Directors  

In 2018, Cxense successfully executed the refocusing of the group - which was initiated the 

previous year. The Data Management Platform (DMP) with Intelligent Personalization core 

offering was strengthened with new features and the launch of Conversion Engine, and 

divestments of non-core2 assets also continued. The narrower strategic focus led to 18% 

revenue growth for the core offering for the year and improved EBITDA performance.  

The new international leadership team was successfully onboarded and developed a 

strategic plan which was launched in early 2019 with clearly defined strategic and financial 

objectives. These include developing the core offering and strengthening the sales and 

customer success team to increase customer retention and new sales. These measures will 

enable Cxense to increase customer life-time value and drive growth in its core market 

segments of publishing, digital media and the subscription economy.  

STRATEGIC DEVELOPEMENT  

Strong, international leadership team and organization with a global footprint  

Throughout 2018, Cxense strengthened the organization with fresh perspectives and execution power with the 

help of a renewed leadership team.  

In the third quarter, Ben Graham and David Gosen joined the company. Ben Graham as the Chief Product Officer 

(CPO) responsible for product management activities and David Gosen as Chief Commercial Officer (CCO) 

responsible for all commercial activities. Both have proven track records when it comes to leading global 

technology companies.  

Ben Graham is an experienced product leader who has worked extensively with audience data, analytics and 

data driven products, most recently as VP of Product at Schibsted, and previously as Senior Director of Product 

Management at Yahoo. David Gosen has held senior positions at Microsoft, Nielsen, Rocket Fuel and more 

recently at Sizmek, the world's largest independent buyside advertising platform, where he was General Manager 

for EMEA.  

Elisabeth Monrad Hansen was appointed Vice President, Human Resources, in August and she is responsible for 

developing and executing the HR strategy, focused on making Cxense an attractive employer for high-skilled 

personnel, and on attracting, developing, and retaining global talent. Elisabeth Monrad-Hansen has extensive 

experience as a HR manager within the Telenor Group and Schibsted. 

In early December, Jørgen Evjen joined as Chief Financial Officer (CFO). Jørgen Evjen is an experienced finance 

manager and leader, who has held senior positions at circular economy company Norsk Gjenvinning, Enfo 

Energy and Numo Solutions.  

Early in 2019, the company appointed Greger Teigre Wedel as new Chief Technology Officer, after our former 

CTO resigned due to external reasons. Greger Teigre Wedel has a strong technical and managerial background 

from various companies including Cisco Systems, Tandberg and Hudya Group. 

                                                           

 

 

 

2 The non-core business consists predominantly of business acquired by Cxense to expand the customer base, expand geographically and upsell 

the core offering. Over time the DMP with Intelligent Personalization core business has grown organically, while lower sales and churn on acquired 
applications have yielded a negative contribution to growth. Cxense in 2017 and 2018 divested non-core assets to focus on the core business. 
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These recruitments concluded the strategic initiative to strengthen and complete the Cxense leadership team and 

position the company for future growth. Visit www.cxense.com for additional information and detailed CVs of the 

leadership team. 

Increased customer lifetime value and growth 

In late 2018, the new leadership team initiated a strategic review of group operations and markets which led to an 

announcement of a strategic plan on 17 January 2019 with the aim to increase customer lifetime value by two-to-

four times and drive growth by strengthening the product portfolio and organization. The goal is to triple revenues 

over the next five years and become profitable during the period.  

The strategic plan leverages Cxense’s established market position with its leading data management platform and 

personalization technology, IT-solutions which today are used by some of the world's leading publishers and 

brands. In 2018, the company introduced new products led by an enhanced DMP and the Cxense Conversion 

Engine which has gained solid traction with both existing and new potential customers. Going forward the 

Company will continue to capitalize on its global market position to expand into the growing data and subscription 

economy.   

To finance necessary growth investments and working capital requirements, Cxense, in February 2019, executed 

a fully underwritten rights issue raising gross proceeds of approximately USD 10 million or NOK 90 million at NOK 

7 kroner per share. In addition to the shareholders, senior management and board members of Cxense also 

subscribed for shares in the rights issue, which was completed on 28 February. After completion of the 

oversubscribed rights issue, Cxense has 21,946,519 shares outstanding.  

The new growth capital will be used to finance a build-up of the sales and customer success teams to increase 

customer touch points and the capacity to capture more opportunities and monetize the product portfolio. Cxense 

will also invest in continued product innovation including developing its engineering capacity, AI capabilities and 

establish data science as-a-service to accelerate sales and customers’ product adoption.     

Improved customer retention and churn reduction is a strategic priority. Cxense will maintain its focus on adding 

larger contracts with solid implementations and strengthening account management. Selective additions to the 

customer success team and enhancements to the technology and product offering are key measures to achieve 

this. In addition, the quality of the customer portfolio will improve over time as legacy customers churn out.  

Strengthened core offering with Enreach and Conversion Engine  

From 2013 to 2017, Cxense pursued a growth strategy, which included acquisitions of and investments in 

software applications adjacent to the company’s core data management platform and personalization software. 

During the same period, revenue from DMP and personalization applications more than tripled from organic 

growth to become the largest Cxense revenue segment. In 2017, the board and management decided to focus on 

Cxense’s area of strength. Revenue growth continued for the core business in 2018 as Cxense continued to 

develop its DMP and a personalization software platform which is used by some of the world's leading publishers 

and brands. 

In April 2018, Cxense acquired the Finnish DMP company Enreach Solutions OY. The transaction added AI-

powered audience segmentation and campaign reporting capabilities complementary to the Cxense DMP and the 

Enreach-Cxense technology combination was already deployed and proven in 13 joint customer cases. The 

transaction consideration was made up of Cxense shares and a share-based earn out structure. The ongoing 

integration of the Enreach technology and organization delivers both operational synergies and a stronger DMP 

offering which has been well received in the market. 

In June 2018, the first publisher signed an agreement to use Cxense’s new product Conversion Engine, an all-in-

one solution that converts readers into subscribers through dynamic, data-driven, real-time personalization.  

Conversion Engine, developed in close cooperation with Cxense’s longstanding customer The Wall Street 

Journal, has gained significant interest in the market with several contracts signed with existing and new 

customers. The new solution is a powerful example of how customer collaboration can drive development and 

commercialization of new and attractive products. Conversion Engine complements Cxense’s strong product 

portfolio and enables a value proposition to expand into the wider, rapidly expanding subscription economy.   

http://www.cxense.com/
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The strategic plan is expected to improve DMP and Intelligent Personalization software development output, 

giving Cxense a clearer market position and pave the way for significantly more efficient operations. As part of 

this process, Cxense divested 70% of the non-core advertising business Maxifier in late 2018. The divestment 

process of the non-core PAN unit was completed in April 2019. (See note 4 to the financial statements for further 

details)   

A focused DMP with Intelligent Personalization company 

Following these divestments, Cxense will be a focused DMP and Intelligent Personalization company with world-

leading software enabling customers to harness the power of machine learning to consistently deliver unique and 

relevant user experiences. The Cxense platform enables publishers, marketers and other companies to assume 

control of their data, their most valuable resource, and organize it into user profiles and segments to understand 

and predict customer behavior in real time. Once applied, the solutions can infer a user or end-customer’s age, 

gender and income bracket, along with associated interests and intent to purchase.  

This provides Cxense’s clients with a set of very rich user profiles and a deep understanding of their users and 

customers on an aggregate and individual basis to provide article and product recommendations, subscription 

and membership optimization, data alliances, loyalty programs, targeted offers and many more in compliance with 

GDPR. By serving the right offer to the right customer at the right time, publishers and markers can build loyalty 

and increase revenues from both subscriptions and advertising.  

Cxense's core market, focused around DMP for publishers, content recommendations and intelligence platforms, 

is estimated to be valued at USD 10 billion and growing between 15% and 20% annually. In addition, the 

Company is targeting the larger Digital Marketing Software market estimated to be valued at USD 33 billion3. The 

Company believes it can enter this segment by leveraging its capabilities and recent traction in subscription 

optimization. Industries far beyond media are turning towards the subscription economy, trying to build long-

lasting and recurring relationships with their customers, and that puts Cxense at an advantage.  

 

OPERATIONAL REVIEW 

2018 group revenue was USD 20.2 million, compared to USD 20.5 million in 2017. The decrease in group 

revenue was due to divestments of non-core assets and higher-than-expected churn. Revenue from the DMP with 

Intelligent Personalization software (core SaaS segment) rose by 18% in 2018 to USD 15.7 million, and 

represented 78% of group revenue, compared to USD 13.3 million and 65%, respectively, in 2017.   

Cxense signed a total of 79 recurring revenue contracts for the core offering in 2018, with key customer wins such 

as Mediahuis, Advanced Info Service (AIS), VLMedia, E2, Danish Broadcasting Corporation (DR), Star Media 

Group, Mainichi Shimbun, Singapore Press Holdings and NLProfiel. Customers select Cxense’s solutions due to 

robust user tracking techniques, strong first-party and third-party data capture capabilities and the deepest real-

time audience user profiles in the market. In addition, the Conversion Engine launched by mid-2018 has attracted 

strong interest among new and existing customer during second half of the year. In all, DMP and personalization 

software accounted for 92% of new Annual Recurring Revenue (ARR) in 2018.   

Upsell to existing customers remained an important growth factor, representing 53% of the number of new 

contracts signed over the year for the DMP and Personalization software. Cxense had approximately 190 DMP 

and Personalization customers as of year-end 2018. 

                                                           

 

 

 

3 https://www.marketsandmarkets.com/Market-Reports/digital-marketing-software-market-52158190.html?gclid=EAIaIQobChMIzr27qrD-

3wIVBamaCh0qjgZlEAAYASAAEgJQUvD_BwE 

 

https://www.marketsandmarkets.com/Market-Reports/digital-marketing-software-market-52158190.html?gclid=EAIaIQobChMIzr27qrD-3wIVBamaCh0qjgZlEAAYASAAEgJQUvD_BwE
https://www.marketsandmarkets.com/Market-Reports/digital-marketing-software-market-52158190.html?gclid=EAIaIQobChMIzr27qrD-3wIVBamaCh0qjgZlEAAYASAAEgJQUvD_BwE
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Most of Cxense’s customers are in the online publishing market vertical. In 2018, the company also continued to 

develop its position within the growing data alliance vertical, represented by customers such as UAB Adnet 

media, Brat, NLProfiel and David trading.  

At the end of 2018, the Cxense group had 1094 employees (headcount), compared to 1205 employees 

(headcount) in 2017. 

CXENSE GROUP – FINANCIAL DEVELOPMENT SUMMARY6 

 

See page 91 of the annual report for definitions of Alternative Performance Measures. 

Revenue 

The 2018 group revenue from continuing operations amounted to USD 20.2 million, a decrease of 1.2% from 

revenue of USD 20.5 million in 2017. This was due to divestments of non-core assets and higher-than-expected 

churn. The total revenue development in the year was a function of new software license revenues of USD 1.46 

million, divested software license revenues of USD -0.22 million, and changes in service revenues and other 

variable revenues of USD -0.20 million. Currency effects amounted USD -0.11 million while the churn impact was 

USD -1.41 million for the year. 

                                                           

 

 

 

4 Excluding 23 outbounds (primarily employees from Maxifier) 
5 Excluding 8 outbound employees 
6 Quarterly figures are un-audited 

USD 1,000 Q1 2017 Q2 2017 Q3 2017 Q4 2017 Q1 2018 Q2 2018 Q3 2018 Q4 2018 2017 2018

IFRS IFRS IFRS IFRS IFRS IFRS IFRS IFRS IFRS IFRS
SaaS segment

SaaS segment

DMP with Intelligent Personalization (CORE) 3,130         3,188         3,357         3,617         3,816         3,875         3,993         3,993         13,292       15,678       

Advertising (Non-core) 911             861             678             525             436             364             355             226             2,975         1,382         

mporium (Non-core) 136             131             146             141             147             77               -              -              554             224             

Video (Non-core) 1,033         896             875             864             840             801             722             588             3,668         2,951         

Revenues total 5,209         5,077         5,055         5,147         5,239         5,118         5,070         4,808         20,487       20,235       

Cost of sales 1,361         1,321         1,146         1,005         997             1,091         1,031         990             4,833         4,110         

Gross profit 3,848         3,756         3,909         4,143         4,242         4,027         4,039         3,818         15,656       16,125       

Gross margin % 74 % 74 % 77 % 80 % 81 % 79 % 80 % 79 % 76 % 80 %
SaaS segment

Personnel 4,402         5,826         5,305         3,018         2,505         2,474         2,931         3,057         18,552       10,967       

Other OPEX 2,088         2,284         2,170         2,056         2,156         2,070         2,299         2,277         8,599         8,803         

OPEX 6,490         8,110         7,476         5,074         4,661         4,544         5,230         5,334         27,150       19,770       

EBITDA (2,642) (4,354) (3,567) (931) (420) (518) (1,191) (1,516) -11,494      -3,644        
SaaS segment

Non-IFRS adjustment of OPEX level

Share-based payment costs 244             239             (32)             (18)             (4)                39               115             33               432             183             

Share-based social costs provision                                                                                                                         

Commission accrual reversals                                                                            (343)                                         -343           

Restructuring costs and provisions                               1,280         164                                           411             103             1,444         514             

Office moving costs (21)             0                 140             103                                           60                              222             60               

Extraordinary/special 32               585             24               3                                                                             644             

One-off provision for doubtful debt                                                             142             (2)                137                            278             

Transaction costs 103             58               52               1                 77               47                              38               214             162             

R&D refund                                                                                                                         

Total reported OPEX adjustment items 358 882 1,464 253 215 (259) 723 174 2,956         853             
SaaS segment

OPEX adjusted 6,132         7,228         6,012         4,821         4,446         4,803         4,507         5,160         24,194       18,916       

EBITDA adjusted (2,284) (3,472) (2,103) (678) (204) (777) (468) (1,342) (8,538) (2,791)
SaaS segment

Capitalized operating expense (507)           (507)           (557)           (268)           (226)           (365)           (421)           (384)           (1,839) (1,397)

EBITDA adjusted with capitalization add back (2,791)        (3,980)        (2,660)        (946)           (431)           (1,142)        (889)           (1,726)        (10,377) (4,188)



Annual report 2018 

 

15  

Revenue for the DMP with Intelligent Personalization (core SaaS segment) was USD 15.7 million, an increase of 

18% from USD 13.3 million in 2017. The core SaaS segment offering was strengthened in 2018 with the 

acquisition of Enreach and the launch of Conversion Engine.  

Cost base 

In 2018, the group cost of sales was USD 4.11 million, compared to USD 4.83 million in 2017. Cost of sales 

predominantly relates to the hosting of the software applications used by the company’s customers. The 2018 

gross margin was 79%, compared to 76% in 2017. The year-over-year margin improvement was due to increased 

hosting capacity on own data centers, which are less expensive than leased platforms, and a more efficient 

redundancy set-up implemented through the year. 

The employee benefit expense for 2018 was USD 11.0 million, compared to USD 18.6 million in 2017. The 

decrease reflected the lower number of FTEs in 2018, somewhat offset by salary increases as the new leadership 

team was onboarded and severance costs. The capitalization of employee benefit expenses related to software 

development activities amounted to USD 1.07 million in 2018 (USD 1.53 million). 

Other operating expenses amounted to USD 8.8 million in 2018, compared to USD 8.6 million in 2017. Most of 

the expenses relate to travel, marketing, consulting services, and contractors. Other operating expenses of USD 

0.3 million, related to software development activities, were capitalized in 2017 and in 2018. 

Results 

EBITDA was USD -3.6 million in 2018, an improvement compared to USD -11.5 million in 2017. 

Depreciation and amortization amounted to USD 2.4 million in 2018, compared to USD 3.7 million in 2017. 

Impairments of assets amounted to USD 3.6 million in 2018, compared to USD 11.1 million in 2017. The 

impairments were mainly related to fair value assessments of Video, Maxifier, and capitalized R&D (See note 4).  

Finance income, interest income, was USD 781 thousand in 2018, compared to USD 418 thousand in 2017. 

Finance expenses, mostly related to currency expenses and interest cost, amounted to USD 564 thousand in 

2018 and USD 653 thousand in 2017. Subsequently, net financial income was USD 217 thousand in 2018, 

compared to a net financial expense of USD 235 thousand in 2017. 

The 2018 share of profit from investments in associated companies was USD -419 thousand, compared to USD -

1.4 million in 2017, and was related to the investment in the associated company RepKnight, in which Cxense 

holds a 15% stake. The RepKnight share of profit is included in the accounts in accordance with IFRS and the 

equity method for associated companies. The profit/loss included is booked against the book value of the 

investments, increasing/reducing the book value accordingly. The 2018 impairment of associated company was 

nil while in 2017 impairment of associated company was USD 3.15 million related to RepKnight and the divested 

holding in Mporium Group PLC.   

The tax expense for 2018 was USD 33 thousand, compared to USD 298 thousand in 2017. The tax expense 

relates mainly to withholding tax in Cxense ASA and US, the expense is offset by recognition of deferred tax 

income related to depreciations and impairments of excess.  

The net loss from discontinued operations was USD 284 thousand in 2018, compared to a loss of USD 750 

thousand in 2017.    

The group net loss amounted to USD 11.7 million in 2018, compared to a loss of USD 32.5 million in 2017, 

representing a loss of USD 0.0012 per share in 2018, compared to a loss of USD 0.0039 per share in 2017. 

Financial position 

Total assets at the end of 2018 amounted to USD 20.2 million, compared to USD 30.4 million as at the end 2017. 

The decrease in total assets in the period mainly relates to losses incurred and divestitures in 2018. Total equity 

at the end of Q4 2018 was USD 11.6 million, compared to USD 21.8 million at the end of 2017.  

Goodwill of USD 5.94 million at 31 December 2018 is allocated to the SaaS segment. The investment in 

associated company of USD 74 thousand relates the remaining 30% share of Maxifier (see note 4).   
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The intangible assets of USD 5.27 million was mainly related to capitalized R&D and intangible assets in Cxense 

Finland, as well as RAMP which were reclassified from assets held for sale. 

Trade receivables were USD 2.09 million (equal to 39 days sales outstanding7) at the end of 2018, compared with 

USD 2.44 million (43 days) at the end of 2017.  

The year-end cash position was USD 3.0 million, compared to USD 10.2 million at the end of 2017. The year-

over-year change was mainly a function of cash used to finance operations and investments over the period.  

Non-current liabilities at the end of 2018 were USD 1.64 million, compared to USD 154 thousand for 2017. The 

increase in non-current liabilities is mainly due to the addition of interest-bearing debt acquired in the Enreach 

transaction. Total current liabilities were USD 5.91 million, compared to USD 6.65 million at the end of 2017. 

Cash flow 

Net cash flow used in operating activities was USD 5.4 million in 2018, compared to USD 12.7 million in 2017.  

The 2018 net cash flow from investing activities was negative USD 1.65 million, which mostly reflects capitalized 

R&D, the final payment for Emediate and the finalization of the data center investment as well as investments in 

hosting equipment and intangible assets (capitalized R&D cost). Net cashflow from investments was negative 

USD 3.73 million in 2017.  

The net cash flow from financing activities was negative USD 120 thousand in 2018 from repayment of debt. Net 

cash flow from financing in 2017 was USD 4.85 million, following the private placement of new shares during the 

year. 

 

PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

Revenue in the parent company was NOK 132.6 million in 2018, compared with NOK 147.6 million in 2017. 

Employee expense was NOK 45.6 million in 2017, down from NOK 74.9 million in the preceding year. The 

decrease is explained by decreases in the number of employees and salaries. The parent company had on 

average 33 employees, compared with 52 in 2017. 

Cost of services amounted to NOK 76.5 million in 2018, a decrease from NOK 145.2 million in 2017. The cost of 

services largely relates to the purchase of services from subsidiaries.  

Other operating expenses amounted to NOK 40.9 million, compared with NOK 35.8 million in 2017. The audit fee 

expensed in 2018 was NOK 1 million. The net financial expense was NOK 30.5 million in 2018, compared to net 

financial expense of NOK 76.8 million in 2017. The financial expense in 2017 reflected loss on sale of shares and 

impairment of financial assets.  

The net result for Cxense ASA in 2018, was a loss of 83.4 million, compared to a loss of NOK 243.7 million in 

2017. 

The board of directors proposes that NOK 83.4 million is transferred from the share premium reserve. The Board 

does not propose to pay a dividend for 2018. 

SHARE CAPITAL 

As at 31 December 2018, Cxense ASA had share capital of NOK 45,446,885, consisting of 9,089,377 shares with 

a nominal value of NOK 5 each. The shares in the company have been listed and traded on the Oslo Stock 

Exchange since July 2014.  

                                                           

 

 

 

7 1 day = receivables / quarterly revenues * 90 days 
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Issue of shares 

Cxense issued new shares in 2018. The company issued a total of 131,365 new shares in the company at a 

subscription price of NOK 55 as consideration for the acquisition of Enreach Solutions Oy. The table below 

provides an overview of the separate transactions executed during 2018.  

  

Date announced Type of issue Number 

of shares 

Subscription price 

per share 

Gross proceeds Date registered 

14 April 2018 Consideration shares for 

Enreach Solutions Oy  

123,789 NOK 55.00 NOK 6.8 million  4 May 2018  

18 October 2018 Consideration shares as final 

price adjustment for Enreach 

Solutions Oy 

7,576 NOK 55.00 NOK 0.41 million 1 November 2018 

 

 Share options and subscription rights 

On 4 April 2018, the board resolved to issue 210,000 subscription rights (SRs) to employees in the company. The 

grant was made under the company's 2017 incentive subscription rights plan, as resolved at the annual general 

meeting (AGM) on 10 May 2017. The exercise price of the SRs is NOK 46.11 per share. The issued SRs vest 

over 4 years by 25 % on each anniversary from the date of the grant. The SRs expire on 10 May 2022. 

On 12 April 2018, the board resolved to issue 54,000 subscription rights (SRs) to employees in the company. The 

grant was made under the company's 2017 incentive subscription rights plan, as resolved at the annual general 

meeting (AGM) on 10 May 2017. The exercise price of the SRs is NOK 43.08 per share. The issued SRs vest 

over 4 years by 25 % on each anniversary from the date of the grant. The SRs expire on 10 May 2022. 

As at 31 December 2018, there were 686,075 outstanding share options and subscription rights to Cxense 

employees. Costs of share-based payments are booked to the profit and loss statement, in accordance with the 

IFRS 2 accounting standard. (See Note 8)  

RISKS AND RISK MANAGEMENT 

Cxense bases risk management on the principle that risk evaluation is integral to all business activities. As a 

technology company with global operations, Cxense is exposed to various risk factors of financial and operational 

nature. These factors can affect the group’s business activities and financial position. The board of Cxense 

prioritizes risk management and has established routines and policies to limit overall risk exposure. A more 

detailed overview of risk factors is included in the prospectus dated 11 February 2019, which is available at 

www.cxense.com.  

Market risk 

Cxense’s markets are undergoing rapid technological change. The company’s future success will depend on its 

ability to meet the changing needs of the industry, develop new technologies that address the increasingly 

sophisticated and varied needs of prospective customers, and respond to technological advances and emerging 

industry standards and practices in a cost-effective and timely manner. 

Regulatory and IPR-related risk 

Cxense’s technology is closely tied to the group’s operations and business strategy. The company relies on a 

combination of copyright and trademark laws, trade secrets, confidentiality procedures and contractual provisions 

to protect the company’s intellectual property rights (IPR). Cxense is working to protect its products and 

technologies in all markets of operation but will always face risk related to copyright protection of new products, 

how third parties will challenge them, and how the technology of others can impair the company’s ability to do 

business. 

http://www.cxense.com/
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Going forward, Cxense may be subject to government regulation of the industry, which could adversely affect the 

current business model. However, the company is not aware of any forthcoming legislation or regulation that will 

affect the business negatively. 

Foreign exchange risk 

Cxense is subject to certain financial risks associated with currency and interest rates. There is a broad currency 

mix in both revenues and costs incurred, so no single, large currency risk has been identified to affect the 

company’s net profit. Cxense’s cost basis is largely in Norwegian kroner, US dollars, Japanese yen, Russian 

rubles and Euro. The commercial revenues are essentially in US dollars, Japanese yen, Euro, Danish kroner, 

Norwegian kroner and Swedish kroner. Proceeds from share issues are saved in Norwegian kroner. Cxense has 

not entered into any hedging agreements. 

Liquidity and credit risk 

Cxense operates at a loss and does not have any assets suitable for secured borrowing. During 2018, the 

company issued new shares as consideration for acquisitions. In February 2019, the company raised gross 

proceeds of approximately USD 10 million in a rights issue. (See note 27) The company may seek to raise further 

capital to finance its expansion plans. 

Cxense is exposed to customer-related credit risk, i.e. risk related to the financial strength and characteristics of 

its customers. There is always a risk of loss on accounts receivable from customers and reduced sales to 

customers, if they face liquidity challenges.  

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

Cxense is committed to a high standard of corporate governance and has adequate monitoring and control 

systems in place to ensure insight and control over the activities. The company complies with the legislation, 

regulations and recommendations to which a public limited company is subject, including Section 3-3b of the 

Norwegian Accounting Act on corporate governance, day-to-day obligations of a company listed on the Oslo 

Stock Exchange, and the current version of the Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate Governance, last 

updated 17 October 2018.  

As of 31 December 2018, the company did not comply with the following articles of the Code of Practice: 

• Section 9: The full board serves as both remuneration and audit committee  

• Section 11: The chairman of the board was awarded share options as remuneration for the period 

between the 2017 and 2018 annual general meetings (AGM)  

• Section 14: The board of directors has not established guiding principles for how to act in the event of a 

take-over bid 

 

A detailed statement of the company’s corporate governance policy is provided in a separate section of this 

annual report. 

EMPLOYEES, CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY AND THE ENVIRONMENT 

Cxense aspires to contribute to sustainable development by striking a good balance between financial results, 

value creation, sustainability, and corporate social responsibility (CSR). Pursuant to section 3-3c of the Norwegian 

Accounting Act, the board of directors has drawn up guidelines covering business ethics and CSR.   

Cxense’s activities in the area of social responsibility, including human rights, labor rights, the working 

environment, equality, discrimination, anti-corruption, and the external environment, are described in a separate 

section of this annual report. 
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GOING CONCERN AND EVENTS IN 2019 

The board confirms that the financial statements of the company, as well as of the parent company, have been 

prepared under the going concern assumption. The board is confident that the company is well positioned to 

continue in operational existence, based on the current balance sheet, revenue forecast, and projected expenses.  

In Q1 2019, Cxense raised USD 10 million in net proceeds, from issuing shares by a Rights Issue. The proceeds 

are expected to secure the company’s working capital requirements going forward.  

OUTLOOK 

With a strengthened balance sheet, Cxense has the necessary capital to finance growth investments and working 

capital requirements to execute on the new strategic plan to increase customer lifetime and drive growth by 

strengthening the product portfolio and organization. In 2019, Cxense will invest in developing the organization 

and product portfolio based on clearly defined strategic priorities:  

• Ramp-up customer success team to increase customer touch-points and improve customer retention 

• Rebuild sales capacity to capture more opportunities and improve ability to monetize new products 

• Continue innovation of new products and features, adding more engineers in Oslo close to customers 

• Strengthen AI capabilities in the product 

• Establish data science as a service to drive sales and adoption of our products 

2019 is however expected to be a transitional year with financial performance negatively impacted by soft sales 

and high churn in late 2018. In early 2019, the Company has seen some improvement in churn alongside softer 

new sales as new sales representatives are onboarded. Execution of the strategic plan by building organization 

and driving growth is the Company’s key focus and is expected to positively impact profits and loss from the 

second half of the year. 

Market 

Businesses across all industries are becoming increasingly aware that data is their most valuable asset. The 

ability to gather, analyze and act upon data in real time has become a key success factor. Cxense delivers robust 

user tracking techniques. Strong first-party and third-party data capture capabilities and the deepest real-time 

audience user profiles in the market to our clients, which delivers ROI to clients through increased advertising 

revenue, subscription income and online sales.  

Cxense’s customers are mainly publishers, digital media and e-commerce businesses. They represent 

businesses that continuously seek to improve their ability to gather, store and process data to better understand 

how consumers interact with content and advertising across devices. Cxense enables them to analyze the data 

and make the results actionable in real time to ensure personalized and relevant online experiences, regardless 

of device.  

In 2018, Cxense strengthened its solution offering led by Conversion Engine and the DMP with Enreach 

capabilities.  The strategic plan implemented by the new leadership team will position Cxense to tap into 

increasing demand for DMP and Personalization software across the rapidly growing for digital publishing in 

media markets and in the expanding subscription economy.  
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Corporate governance  

Cxense ASA (Cxense) seeks to create sustained shareholder value, and the company pays due respect to the 

norms of its various stakeholders. In addition to shareholders, Cxense considers as stakeholders its employees, 

its business partners, society in general and the authorities. Cxense is committed to maintaining a high standard 

of corporate governance, being a good corporate citizen, and demonstrating integrity and high ethical standards 

throughout its business dealings. 

1. IMPLEMENTATION AND REPORTING ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

Cxense is a Norwegian public limited company listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange and bases its corporate 

governance structure on Norwegian legislation and recommended guidelines.  

The company’s corporate governance practices were stated and approved on 13 March 2014. This review of the 

company’s corporate governance principles and practices is prepared in compliance with Section 3-3b of the 

Norwegian Accounting Act, and the Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate Governance (“code of practice”) as 

updated per 17 October 2018. The code of practice is available online at www.nues.no.  

Application of the code of practice is based on the “comply or explain” principle, which stipulates that any 

deviations from the code, should be explained.  

The principles and implementation of corporate governance is subject to annual reviews and discussions by the 

company’s board. The corporate governance statement will be made available in the annual report. 

As of 31 December 2018, the company did not comply with the following articles of the Code of Practice: 

• Section 9: The full board serves as both remuneration and audit committee  

• Section 11: The chairman of the board was awarded share options as remuneration for the period 

between the 2017 and 2018 annual general meetings (AGM)  

• Section 14: The board of directors has not established guiding principles for how to act in the event of a 

take-over bid 

2. CXENSE’S BUSINESS   

The articles of association define the company’s business as: “The Company’s business is information 

technology, including development, operations, sales and licensing of software, and other naturally associated 

activities, including participation in other companies with similar operations.”  

The board of directors has established goals, strategies and risk profile for the business within the scope of the 

definition of its business to create value for its shareholders. These objectives and strategies are reflected in the 

company’s business plan which is adopted by the board and reviewed and revised at least on an annual basis. 

The business goals and key strategies are presented in the annual report. The articles of association are 

available on www.cxense.com.   

The board has approved a set of ethical guidelines, which are in accordance with the company values, and which 

apply to all employees, consultants and contractors, as well as non-executive directors. The ethical guidelines are 

also incorporated in the company’s guidelines for corporate social responsibility and reflect how stakeholder 

considerations contribute to value creation.  

3. EQUITY AND DIVIDENDS  

The board aims to maintain a satisfactory equity ratio, in light of the company’s goals, strategy and risk profile, 

and thereby to ensure an appropriate balance between equity and other sources of financing. The board regularly 

assesses the company’s capital requirements. As at 31 December 2018, Cxense had a total equity of USD 11.6 

million, representing an equity ratio of 57%. The debt-to-equity ratio was 0.74.   

While Cxense has not adopted a dividend policy, the company’s aim and focus is to enhance shareholder value 

and provide an active market in its shares. The company has to date never declared or paid dividends on its 

http://www.nues.no/
http://www.cxense.com/
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shares and does not anticipate paying any cash dividends for 2018, nor in the next few years. Cxense intends to 

retain future earnings, if any, to finance operations and the expansion of its business. Any future resolution to pay 

dividends will depend on the company’s financial condition, operational results and capital requirements.  

Board mandates 

At the 2018 AGM, the board was granted an authorization to issue shares with a nominal value of NOK 

4,479,006, representing 10% of the registered share capital at the time of the authorization. The authorization is 

valid until the date of the 2019 AGM, yet no later than 30 June 2019. The authorization may be used (i) in 

connection with private placements, where shareholders’ pre-emptive rights may be set aside, and (ii) in 

connection with rights issues.  

The AGM granted an authorization to issue new shares with a nominal value of up to NOK 4,479,006 related to 

share option programs for employees in the Company, including employees of Cxense ASA, its subsidiaries, 

affiliated companies and to individual contractors performing similar work. The authorization is valid until the date 

of the 2020 AGM, yet no later than 30 June 2020. All future grants of share-based incentives shall be made under 

the share option plans, while issued and outstanding subscription rights under the former subscription rights plans 

(from 2014 to mid-2018) shall remain in effect in accordance with their terms. 

In 2018, two subscription rights grants were made under the company's 2017 incentive subscription rights plan. 

On 3 April, the board granted 210,000 subscription rights and a further 54,500 subscription were granted on 12 

April. On 17 September, the board resolved to issue 344,000 share options to employees in the company under 

the 2018 share option incentive program.     

A more detailed overview of the share-based incentive program is described in the notes to the financial 

statements in the 2018 annual report.  

The AGM authorized the board to issue new shares with nominal value of up to NOK 400,000 in connection with 

the exercise of options awarded to the chairman of the board. The authorization is valid until the date of the 2019 

AGM, but no later than 30 June 2019. The options awarded to the chairman reflects renumeration for a greater-

than-normal workload for the period between the 2017 and 2018 AGMs and to facilitate for the chairman to 

continue his work for the company. 

As at 31 December 2018, 9,089,377 shares and 686,075 share options and subscription rights were outstanding. 

Additionally, the AGM authorized the board to purchase up to 10% of the company’s shares, for a maximum price 

of NOK 1,000 per share. The authorization expires at the date of the 2019 AGM, and no later than 30 June 2019. 

As at 31 December 2018, the authorization has not been used.  

Each mandate for the board to issue shares was considered and voted separately, by type and purpose.  

4. EQUAL TREATMENT OF SHAREHOLDERS AND TRANSACTIONS WITH CLOSE 

ASSOCIATES  

Cxense has over time raised equity on several occasions to finance its activities, which has resulted in dilution of 

existing shareholders’ shareholdings. In authorizations to issue new shares where the shareholders have 

resolved to waive the pre-emptive rights of existing shareholders, the rationale for doing so has been included as 

part of the decision material presented to the general meeting. When such transactions have been conducted, the 

justification has also been included in the announcements to the market.  

In 2018, Cxense issued consideration shares in two tranches as settlement for the acquisition of Enreach 

Solutions Oy, where the shareholders pre-emption rights were set aside by existing board authorizations. For 

details, see stock exchange releases from 2018. 

In the event of a share buy-back program, the board should ensure that all transactions are carried out either 

through the trading system at Oslo Børs or at prevailing prices at Oslo Børs. The board will in case of limited 

liquidity in the company’s shares consider other ways to ensure equal treatment of all shareholders. Cxense did 

not buy back own shares in 2018.   
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All related-party transactions in effect have been and will be carried out on an arm’s-length basis. Any not-

immaterial future related-party transactions shall be subject to independent third-party valuation, unless the 

transaction by law requires shareholder approval. The company takes legal and financial advice on these matters 

when relevant. An overview of related-party transactions can be found in the notes to the financial statements of 

the annual report. 

5. SHARES AND NEGOTIABILITY  

Cxense has one class of shares. Each share carries one vote and equal rights to the company’s profits. Each 

share has a nominal value of NOK 5.  

All shares are freely assignable. The articles of association do not contain any restrictions on the shares. There 

are no shareholders’ agreements in effect that restrict the assignability of the company’s shares. However, the 

company has, by contract, imposed certain restrictions on the sale and transfer of shares by employee 

shareholders. 

6. GENERAL MEETINGS  

The general meeting (GM) is Cxense’s governing body and provides a forum where shareholders can raise 

issues with the board. The GM has adopted the articles of association, where topics, such as the agenda, notice 

period and attendance are regulated. Extraordinary general meetings (EGM) are held in accordance with the 

provisions of the Public Limited Liability Companies Act and may be called by the board or shareholders 

representing at least 5% of the share capital.  

The board should facilitate for as many shareholders as possible may exercise their rights by participating. The 

AGM is held by the end of June each year. The 2019 AGM is scheduled for 8 May.  

Notification 

The Board will ensure that the resolutions and any supporting material shall be sufficiently detailed and 

comprehensive to allow shareholders to understand and form a view on all matters to be considered at the 

general meeting and thereby facilitate productive discussions and informed resolutions.  

Registration and proxies 

The notice will inform of the procedures shareholders must observe in order to participate in, and vote at the GM. 

Shareholders wishing to attend the GM, in person or by proxy, shall electronically submit a written confirmation 

through the company’s website, logged in to the VPS investor portal or by mail or e-mail to the company’s 

registrar, DNB Bank ASA. The confirmation of attendance must be submitted no later than two days prior to the 

GM. If a shareholder does not notify the company of his or her attendance in a timely manner, the company may 

deny him or her access to the meeting. In order to attend and vote at the Company’s GM, all custodian held 

shares must be moved to a separate account in the name of the shareholder prior to the GM.  

Shareholders are entitled to request that specific matters be placed on the agenda of an AGM, by giving the 

board written notice in due time before the notice of the meeting, however, no later than one week before the 

notice is issued.  

Shareholders who are unable to attend in person, will be provided the option to vote by proxy. The notice shall 

contain a proxy form, as well as information about the procedure for proxy representation. At the meeting, votes 

shall be cast separately on each subject, and for each office/candidate in the elections. Consequently, the proxy 

form shall, to the extent possible, facilitate separate voting instructions on each subject, and on each 

office/candidate in the elections.  

In addition, the upcoming 2019 AGM will be held as the first “hybrid” GM in Norway, meaning that the Company 

will allow online participation from all shareholders in the AGM. DNB Bank registrars department administers the 

participation for the Company by using its licensed software solution from British company Lumi Ltd. Secure 

identification of all shareholders is ensured by use of the unique reference numbers and pin codes that are 

assigned each shareholder by the Norwegian Central Securities Depository (Nw. Verdipapirsentralen or VPS). 

This also includes custodian held shares that are moved to a separate account in the name of the shareholder 
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prior to the GM. All items on the agenda for the AGM will be open for voting at the opening of the AGM and closed 

as items are addressed in the AGM, with immediate voting results from online participants. Unless otherwise set 

out in the notice to the AGM, no pre-registration is required for online participating shareholders, other than that 

all participants must be logged into to the participation system at the beginning of the AGM. Further information 

on online participation will be included in the notice for the general meeting. 

Agenda and execution 

The agenda for the general meeting is set by the board, and the main items are specified in §6 of the articles of 

association.  

The shareholders elect a person to chair the GM. The board will arrange for an independent candidate, if so 

requested by shareholders.  

As far as is at all possible, all members of the board and the chair of the nomination committee shall be present at 

the GM.  

The company will announce the protocol for the GM, in accordance with stock exchange regulations. 

7. NOMINATION COMMITTEE  

The company’s nomination committee is regulated by the articles of association, §7. The implementation of a 

nomination committee was resolved at the AGM on 2 April 2014.  

The nomination committee consists of three members, who are normally elected for a period of two years. The 

committee and its chair are elected by the GM, which also decides on the remuneration of the committee. The 

nomination committee proposes candidates for election to the board at the GM and recommends remuneration for 

board members. In accordance with the instructions for the nomination committee, the committee itself proposes 

new committee members and the remuneration to be paid to committee members.  

As at 31 December 2018, the nomination committee consisted of Lars Christian Tvedt (chairman), Ola Snøve and 

Davor Sutija, who were re-elected for a one-year period at the Annual General Meeting dated 9 May 2018. All are 

independent of the board of directors and management of the company.  

8. BOARD OF DIRECTORS: COMPOSITION AND INDEPENDENCE  

Composition of the board 

Pursuant to the articles of association, §5, the board shall have three to six members, elected by the GM. As at 31 

December 2018, the board comprised five members, whereof two women and three men, hence fulfilling the 

gender diversity requirements pursuant to Norwegian legislation.  

Board members may be elected for a period of two years and may be re-elected. The GM elects the chairman of 

the board.  

Lars Bjørn Thoresen (chairman), Liza Benson and Ingeborg Hegstad were re-elected at the AGM on 9 May 2018. 

Martin Moran was elected to the board as a new director at the EGM held on 18 January 2018 and he was also 

re-elected at the AGM. The EGM on 16 August 2018 elected Azeem Azhar as new director.  

The company's annual report and the website provides information to illustrate the expertise of the members of 

the board of directors. 

Independence of the board 

The majority of the directors are independent of the company’s management and material business contacts, and 

at least two of the shareholder-elected directors are independent of the company’s major shareholders. The 

directors are independent of the company’s management, and the executive management is not represented on 

the board. 

All directors are required to make decisions objectively, in the best interest of the company, and the presence of 

independent directors is intended to ensure that additional independent advice and judgment are brought to bear. 
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Share ownership 

The board considers that, at this stage of Cxense’s corporate development, it is beneficial for the company and its 

shareholders that board directors are also shareholders in the company. The board therefore encourages 

directors to hold shares in the company.  

The board pays attention that ownership does not in any way affect or interfere with the proper performance of the 

fiduciary duties that the directors and management owe the company, and all shareholders. As and when 

appropriate, the board takes independent advice in respect of its procedures, corporate governance, and other 

compliance matters. 

 

Name Role 
Considered 
independent 

Served 
since 

Term 
expires 

Participation 
Board 
Meetings 2018 

Shares/options 
in Cxense 
(direct/ indirect) 

Lars Bjørn Thoresen  Chairman Yes 10.05.2017 AGM 2019 100% 38,677/40,0001 

Liza Benzon  Board 
member 

Yes 10.05.2017 AGM 2019 100%   

Ingeborg Hegstad  Board 
member 

Yes 18.09.2017 AGM 2019 100% 7,1502 

Martin Moran  Board 
member 

Yes  18.01.2018 AGM 2019 85%  

Azeem Azhar  Board 
member 

Yes 16.08.2018 AGM 2019 75%  

 

1 Of the shares owned, 12,500 shares are held through LT Invest AS. The 40,000 options were approved as board remuneration 
by the AGM on 9 May 2018  
2 Held through Imsight AS   

9. THE WORK OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS  

The board’s tasks 

The board is elected by the shareholders to oversee the executive management, and to assure that the long-term 

interests of the shareholders and other stakeholders are served. The board has the ultimate responsibility for 

management and the company’s activities in general. The main responsibilities include the company’s 

organization and planning, and the control and supervision of operations. The board shall also ensure that the 

organization of accounting and funds management is compliant and under satisfactory control.  

The board adopts an annual plan for its work, with particular emphasis on objectives, strategy, and 

implementation.  

Members of the board and the management are obliged to notify the board if they have any material direct or 

indirect interest in any transaction contemplated or entered into by the company. 

Instructions to the board 

The board has issued instructions for its own work, as well as for the executive management, to allocate duties 

and responsibilities between management and the board. The instructions are based on applicable laws and well-

established practices. The current instructions were last amended by the board in March 2014.  

The board instructions state that, in situations when the chairman cannot, or should not, lead the work of the 

board, the longest-serving director shall chair the board until an interim chairman has been elected by and among 

the directors that are present. 

Audit committee 

As at 31 December 2018, the full board served as the audit committee.  
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Compensation committee 

The full board also serves as the compensation (remuneration) committee. The compensation policy is reviewed 

annually. The full board determines the remuneration of the CEO and determines the overall salary framework. 

The chairman of the board must approve the remuneration of the CEO. The remunerations of the board and the 

nomination committee are the responsibilities of the nomination committee. 

With a compact board of five members, the board has not determined a need for a separate compensation or 

audit committee. The future need for any such sub-committee is reviewed minimum annually in connection with 

the annual review of the company's corporate governance practices. 

Evaluation of the board 

The board evaluates its performance and expertise annually.  

10. RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL  

The board has adopted internal rules and guidelines regarding, among other matters, risk management and 

internal control. The rules and guidelines take into account the extent and nature of the company’s activities as 

well as the company’s corporate values and ethical guidelines, including corporate social responsibility, and the 

integration of stakeholder considerations into its value creation.   

The board conducts an annual review of the company’s most important areas of risk exposure, and its internal 

control arrangements. Management prepares monthly performance reports for review by the board. In addition, 

quarterly financial reports are prepared and reported to the financial market, in accordance with the Oslo Stock 

Exchange’s requirements. These quarterly reports are reviewed by the full board prior to the board meeting.  

The board has adopted an insider manual with ancillary documents. The insider manual is intended to ensure that 

i.e. trading in the company’s shares by board members, executives and/or employees, including close relations to 

the aforementioned, is conducted in accordance with applicable laws and regulations. 

11. REMUNERATION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS  

The GM determines the remuneration of the board, based on the nomination committee’s proposal. The 

remuneration shall reflect the board’s responsibilities, competence, time spent, and the complexity of the 

business. The remuneration is not linked to performance.  

Beyond the scope of board responsibility, directors can, from time to time, take on certain consultancy projects for 

the company. Any director performing work for the company beyond board duties shall ensure that such 

assignments do not in any way affect or interfere with proper performance of his/her fiduciary duties as director. 

Moreover, the board (without the participation of the interested director) shall approve the terms and conditions of 

such arrangements. Adequate details shall be disclosed in the annual financial statements. 

The chairman, Lars Bjørn Thoresen, was in 2018 granted options by the AGM as renumeration for a greater-than-

normal workload for the period between the 2017 and 2018 AGMs and to facilitate for the chairman to continue 

his work for the company. 

A detailed overview of the remuneration of the individual board members is provided in the notes to the financial 

statement in the annual report for 2018.  

12. REMUNERATION OF EXECUTIVE PERSONELL  

Cxense offers market-based compensation packages for executives and employees, in order to attract and retain 

the competence the company needs. The exercise price for any share option is in line with the share price at the 

time of the grant. The share options vest in tranches over four years. The company does not employ so-called 

“golden parachutes”, and post-employment pay will only apply in cases where the company invokes contractual 

non-competition clauses.  

While the remuneration committee prepares the overall compensation policy, the board shall determine the 

compensation of the CEO. With regards to performance-related bonus, the company has set a maximum amount 
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for cash incentive remuneration per calendar year. In alignment with the incentive share option program resolved 

by the AGM, the limit does not apply to the possible gain on share options.  

At the AGM, the board will present a statement regarding management remuneration to the shareholders. The 

resolution by the AGM is binding, with regards to share-based compensation, and advisory in other aspects.  

An overview of the remuneration of individual members of management is provided in the notes to the financial 

statement in the 2018 annual report.  

13. INFORMATION AND COMMUNICATIONS  

Investor relations 

The board places great emphasis on the relationship and communication with shareholders. The primary purpose 

of Cxense’s external information activities is to provide the financial markets with sufficient information to 

accurately value the company’s shares. The information shall be presented factually and soberly and be issued 

using methods and channels that ensure simultaneous, fair and wide distribution. All information is published in 

English, which is Cxense’s corporate language. 

The primary channels for communication are the interim reports, the annual report and the associated financial 

statements. Cxense also issues other notices to shareholders when appropriate.  

All reports and notices are issued and distributed in accordance with the Oslo Stock Exchange’s rules and 

practices, and are made available on the company’s website, and at www.newsweb.no.  

Cxense has, in line with the code, adopted an investor relations policy. The CEO and the CFO are responsible for 

communicating with the shareholders, the stock exchange, analysts and the media, but all press releases and 

stock exchange announcements shall be approved by the chairman. The GM provides a forum for shareholders 

to raise issues with the board.  

The board has adopted the following policies for information and investor relations: 

• Policy for reporting of financial and other information, and investor relations  

• Policy for contact with shareholders outside general meetings  

• Policy for information management in unusual situations, which attract or are likely to attract media or 

other external interest 

Financial information 

Cxense holds open investor presentations in association with the publishing of its quarterly results. The 

presentations are open and provide an overview of the company’s operational and financial performance in the 

previous quarter, as well as of the general market outlook, and the company’s own future prospects. These 

presentations are also made available on the company’s website.  

Cxense’s financial reporting is fully compliant with applicable laws and regulations. Cxense prepares and presents 

its interim and annual financial reports in accordance with IFRS. The interim reports are published on the Oslo 

Stock Exchange no more than 60 days after the close of the quarter, and the annual reports are published no 

later than ultimo April each year, in line with the stock exchange’s regulations. The reports, and other pertinent 

information, are also available at www.cxense.com. 

Quiet period 

Cxense practices a minimum of two weeks’ quiet period before scheduled interim and annual report publication 

dates. In this period, no meetings, telephone conferences, or similar events are held with analysts, investors, 

press, or other parties in the financial market. Communication, if any, shall be limited to practical matters, and 

provision of previously issued statements and reports on request. 

 

 

http://www.newsweb.no/
http://www.cxense.com/
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Financial calendar 

Cxense publishes an annual financial calendar for the following year, setting forth the dates for major events, 

such as its annual general meeting, publication of interim reports, any scheduled public presentations, any 

dividend payment date, etc. The reports and other pertinent information are also available on the company’s 

website, www.cxense.com. 

14. TAKE-OVERS  

Cxense has no takeover defense mechanisms in place. The board will endeavor to maximize shareholder value, 

and to treat all shareholders equally. The board shall otherwise ensure full compliance with section 14 of the 

code. 

15. AUDITOR  

The company’s auditor is BDO.  

The company’s auditor is appointed by the GM and is responsible for the financial audit of the parent company, 

and the group accounts. The auditor is fully independent of Cxense, and the company represents a minimal share 

of the auditor’s business.  

The board of directors will ensure that the auditor annually presents a plan to the board, covering the main 

considerations for carrying out the audit. The board will invite the auditor to meetings where the annual accounts 

are considered. The auditor will attend other meetings if requested. 

The auditor presents the audit results to the board at the approval meeting for the annual accounts. The audit 

results include a presentation of any material changes in the company’s accounting principles, significant 

accounting estimates, and a report of any material matters, in case of disagreements between the external auditor 

and the management.  

The board should at least annually review the company’s internal control procedures with the auditor, including 

identified weaknesses and posed improvements.  At least once per year, a meeting will be held between the 

auditor and the board, without the presence of the CEO or other executive management members. 

Cxense does not obtain advice from its auditor on business strategy, operational execution, investment 

evaluation, or tax planning. The auditor may provide certain technical and clerical services in connection with the 

preparation of the annual tax return and other secondary reports, for which Cxense ASA assumes full 

responsibility. 

Assignment to auditor 

The board has established written guidelines for the CEO in respect of assignments to the auditor, other than the 

statutory audit. The sum total of the audit firm’s fees and expenses for services which are not related to 

assurance services, shall not exceed 50% of the audit firm’s fees and expenses for the assurance service. 

Before any assignment beyond assurance service is awarded to the auditor, it is the management’s duty to 

carefully assess that (i) the assignment is in the best interest of Cxense, (ii) the auditor is the optimal vendor 

available, (iii) the assignment does not constitute risk of compromising the integrity and independence of the 

auditor, and (iv) there is no conflict of interest. It is taken for granted that audit firm staff engaged in providing 

service beyond the mandatory audit cannot engaged in the audit of the same service. 

Members of Cxense’s management team or their close relations may not purchase any services from the auditor.  

http://www.cxense.com/
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Corporate social responsibility 

GUIDELINES 

Cxense aspires to promote sustainable development by striking a good balance between financial results, value 

creation, sustainability and CSR. The value created shall benefit owners, stakeholders and society at large.  

Cxense operates worldwide in IT, media and other industries. From time to time, the company operates in areas 

which, compared to Norway, have less-developed frameworks, traditions, and understanding of labor rights, 

environmental protection, anti-corruption and human rights.  

Subsequently, Cxense has developed policies for ethics and social responsibility that constitute general principles 

and guidelines for business practices and personal conduct and provide a basis for the attitudes and values that 

should govern the culture in Cxense.  

Cxense’s CSR principles are based on four pillars: people, quality, safety and integrity. In addition, the company 

has adopted standards set by the UN Global Compact, International Labour Organization, and Transparency 

International, to ensure that it is in line with all relevant regulations related to sustainability and CSR.  

The principles and policies are intended to promote the company’s long-term business goals and are followed up 

frequently by reporting key performance to the board of directors. 

Through their employment contracts, all employees have committed to adhere to the guidelines and policies, and 

management will maintain focus on compliance and that frequent training is provided on relevant topics. Any 

potential or actual breaches of the company’s policies during daily operations will be reported and tracked.  

Cxense recognizes that formal guidelines are only a starting point for establishing and maintaining sound 

business ethics throughout the company. Emphasizing ethical conduct is a management responsibility, and the 

company’s ethical standards will further evolve over time, as vigilance and monitoring between colleagues clarify 

issues, lead to discussion, and direct attention to activities and issues which pose particular challenges. 

The company will seek to ensure that suppliers and business partners operate in alignment with Cxense’s 

principles for sustainability and CSR. 

The board would like to thank all Cxense employees for their great contributions throughout the year.  

HUMAN RIGHTS 

Cxense adheres to the internationally recognized human rights described by the UN Universal Declaration of 

Human Rights. This implies that violations of human rights shall not occur in Cxense, and that the company 

respects labor rights, opposes any form of child labor, forced labor, or discrimination, avoids corruption and is 

considerate to the environment.  

Working environment and demographics 

As a company with global operations, Cxense aims to engage employees deriving from a variety of nationalities 

and cultural backgrounds, as long as they have the right competence and experience for the job. 

At the end of 2018, the Group had 1098 employees (headcount), compared to 1209 employees (headcount) in 

2017. Out of the 109 employees at the end of 2018, 8 were part-time employees and 17 were contractors. The 

                                                           

 

 

 

8 Excluding 23 outbounds (primarily employees from Maxifier) 
9 Excluding 8 outbound employees 
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employees were located in the following 8 countries: Norway, USA, Russia, Argentina, Japan, Germany and 

Finland.  

Adjusting for employees that were outbound and related to assets for sale, the remaining employees were as 

follows: 41 in the R&D organization, including product management (2017: 54); 16 sales & marketing, 29 (28.6) in 

operations and support; and 23 (11.4) in management, finance & administration. 

Diversity and equality 

Cxense shall be a healthy workplace, where all employees are given opportunities for professional development. 

All employees shall have equal opportunities for development, irrespective of gender, ethnicity or other 

characteristics. 

As at year-end 2018, Cxense had employees from 9 (13) nationalities. Within the group, of 109 employees, 26 

were women and 83 were men. The company had 10 (7) employees in executive positions, of whom 20% were 

women, compared to 28% in 2017. The board of directors as of 31 December 2018 comprised five members, of 

whom two were women.  

When hiring new candidates, Cxense seeks to identify highly qualified candidates for all positions, and to maintain 

an environment that is neutral and independent of ethnic origin, religious beliefs or orientation, nationality, or other 

criteria not relevant to their work. Cxense does not classify its employees based on such criteria, nor are they 

considered relevant for a career in the company. Cxense believes that qualifications and achievements are the 

key decision factors for employment but will – everything else being equal – seek to employ more women in 

leading positions to achieve a better gender balance. In addition, Cxense has a policy of equal pay for equal work.  

Competence raising 

Cxense is a knowledge-intensive company, and the employee’s continuous learning and development is 

imperative for driving the business forward. Cxense emphasizes knowledge sharing and collaborative learning, to 

ensure a high level of competence across the organization. 

Health and safety 

Cxense has a strong commitment to the health, safety and welfare of its employees and their families, and by 

extension its customers. The company has developed clear policies related to health, alcohol and drug use, to 

support its commitment to providing a safe and secure workplace.  

Cxense seeks to foster a good working environment with high job satisfaction. All employees are encouraged to 

take advantage of flexible working hours, to better balance their jobs with responsibilities at home.  

Sick leave in 2018 for Norway was 0.78%, compared to 1.78% in 2017, remaining well below the national average 

of approximately 5.3% (2017: 5.5%) (see 10), and below the averages for the information and communication 

industry sub-segment of 2.9% (3.1%). No work accidents that have caused personal injuries or material damage 

occurred in 2018. Individually tailored interventions or adapted work tasks are offered to prevent or minimize sick 

leave, when necessary. 

All employees are free to organize, and Cxense supports the right to collective bargaining. Wages shall be above 

the minimum living wage.  

                                                           

 

 

 

10 Source: NAV  
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ANTI-CORRUPTION 

Cxense has zero tolerance for corruption in any form, including extortion and bribery. The company is committed 

to following the regulations provided by FCPA, the UK Bribery Act, and the Norwegian penal code, and has, over 

the years, given significant attention to preventing corruption and bribery. 

The company recognizes that some of its operations are in countries with a high level of acceptance for 

corruption, as reported by Transparency International. Hence, Cxense follows the reports from Transparency 

International closely, and adjusts its level of precautions accordingly. As an example, all employees are required 

to take an online anti-corruption course when joining Cxense.  

Going forward, the company will continue its strong focus on compliance with anti-corruption efforts, and to 

maintain a high level of relevant training in the organization.  

THE ENVIRONMENT 

Cxense is committed to reduce its environmental impact and continually improve its environmental performance, 

as an integral and fundamental part of its business strategy and operations. The company has therefore 

implemented an “Environmental policy and Environmental standard”, which forms the basis for the company’s 

work to ensure the development of environmentally proactive measures.  

Overall, Cxense’s operations result in minimal pollution of the natural environment. The company practices 

recycling of paper at its offices. 
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Group financial statements 

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

 

USD 1,000 Note

Year ended 31 

Dec 2018

Year ended 31 

Dec 2017

Revenue 5,6 20,235 20,488

Operating expense

Cost of sale 7 4,110 4,833

Employee benefit expense 8 10,966 18,551

Other operating expenses 9 8,804 8,600

EBITDA (3,644) (11,494)

Depreciation and amortization expense 13 2,434 3,712

Impairment of assets 3,13 3,592 11,105

Other losses (gains) 4 1,526 345

Net operating income/(loss) (11,196) (26,657)

Financial income and expense

Finance income 10 781 418

Finance expense 10 (564) (653)

Net financial income/(expense) 217 (235)

Share of profit from associated companies 15 (419) (1,392)

Impairment of associated company 15 0 (3,152)

Net loss before taxes (11,398) (31,436)

Income tax expense 11 33 298

Net income/(loss) for the period from continuing operations (11,432) (31,734)

Net income/(loss) for the period from discontinuing operations 4 (284) (750)

Total net loss for the period from total operations (11,716) (32,484)

Net loss attributable to:

  Owners of the Company (11,571) (32,128)

  Non-controlling interests (145) (356)

Earnings per share:

From continuing operations

  Basic 12 (0.0012) (0.0039)

  Diluted 12 (0.0012) (0.0038)

From total operations

  Basic 12  (0.0013) (0.0039)

  Diluted 12  (0.0013) (0.0039)

Statement of comprehensive income

Net loss for the period (11,716) (32,484)

Other comprehensive income:

Items that might be subsequent reclassified to net income (loss):

- Currency translation differences (377) 885

- Amount reclassified from Other comprehensive income to Income 

Statement at disposal 851 (129)

Total comprehensive loss (11,242) (31,728)

Total comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to:

  Owners of the Company (11,158) (31,372)

  Non-controlling interests (84) (356)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

 

USD 1,000 Note

As at 31 Dec 

2018

As at 31 Dec 

2017

Assets

Non-current assets

Goodwill 3,14 5,935               4,809                

Deferred tax asset -                    16                      

Intangible assets 13      5,269               2,324                

Office machinery, equipment, etc. 13      1,010               1,058                

Investments in associated companies 15      74                     476                   

Other financial assets 15      670                   854                   

Total non-current assets 12,957             9,536               

Current assets

Trade receivables 16      2,094               2,438               

Other short-term assets 17      1,533               1,672               

Cash and cash equivalents 18      3,009               10,247             

Total current assets 6,636               14,357             

Assets classified as "held for sale" 4        588                   6,484               

Total assets 20,181             30,378             

Equity and liabilities

Equity

Share capital 19      5,231               5,459               

Other paid-in capital 19,079             49,012             

Currency translation differences 7,933               7,539               

Currency translation on assets held for sale 53                     35                     

Retained earnings (19,897)            (39,523)            

Equity attributable to the holders of the Company 12,399             22,521             

Non-controlling interest (819)                 (735)                 

Total equity 11,580             21,787             

Liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Long-term interest bearing debt 20,22 923                   -                    

Deferred tax liabilities 11      366                   0                       

Other provisions 205                   127                   

Other long-term liabilities 22      144                   27                     

Total non-current liabilities 1,638               154                   

Current liabilities

Short-term interest bearing debt 22      200                   -                    

Trade payables 1,436               1,112               

Current taxes 11      133                   192                   

Other short-term liabilities 21      4,143               5,347               

Total current liabilities 5,912               6,652               

Liabilities related to assets "held for sale" 4        1,051               1,785               

Total liabilities 8,601               8,591               

Total equity and liabilities 20,181             30,378             
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

  

 

 

 

 

USD 1,000

Nominal 

share 

capital

Own 

shares

Other paid-

in capital

Currency 

translation 

differences

Currency 

translation 

on assets 

held for sale

Retained 

earnings

Attributable 

to owners of 

parent 

company

Non-

controlling 

interest

Total 

equity

Total equity as at 1 January 2017 4,617 0 49,666 6,818 0 (12,472) 48,627 (379) 48,248

  Profit for the period 0 (32,128) (32,128) (356) (32,484)

  Other comprehensive income 0 0 0 3,379 0 (2,495) 884 0 884

Amount reclassified from Other comprehensive 

income to Income Statement at disposal (129)             (129) (129)

Total comprehensive income/(loss) 2017 0 0 0 3,250 0 (34,623) (31,373) (356) (31,729)

Transaction costs related to capital increases 0 0 (320) 0 0 0 (320) 0 (320)

Share-based payments 0 0 436 0 0 0 436 0 435

Increase in share capital 642 0 4,492 0 0 0 5,134 0 5,134

Reclassification of equity 0 0 (7,572) 0 0 7,572 0 0 0

Purchase of own shares 0 (16) (269) 0 0 0 (285) 0 (285)

Distribution of own shares. 0 15 280 0 0 0 296 0 296

Sale of own shares 0 0 6 0 0 0 6 0 6

Currency effects from translation of equity 201 (0) 2,294 (2,495) 0 0 0 0

Recycling of OCI on sale and held for sale OCI 0 0 0 (35) 35 0 0 0 0

Total equity as at 31 December 2017 5,459 (0) 49,012 7,539 35 (39,523) 22,521 (735) 21,787

Change in accounting principles (31) (31) (31)

Total equity as at 1 January 2018 5,459 (0) 49,012 7,539 35 (39,554) 22,490 (735) 21,755

  Profit for the period (11,571) (11,571) (145) (11,716)

  Other comprehensive income 0 0 0 (3,551) 18 3,094 (438) 61 (377)

Amount reclassified from Other comprehensive 

income to Income Statement at disposal 0 0 0 851 0 0 851 0 851

Total comprehensive income/(loss) YTD 18 0 0 0 (2,700) 18 (8,476) (11,158) (84) (11,242)

Reduction of paid-in capital 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Transaction costs related to capital increases 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Share-based payments 0 0 172 0 0 0 172 0 172

Increase in share capital 81 0 814 0 0 0 895 0 895

Reclassification of equity 0 0 (28,133) 0 0 28,133 0 0 0

Currency effects from translation of equity (310) 0 (2,785) 3,094 0 0 0 0

Total equity as at 31 December 2018 5,231 (0) 19,079 7,933 53 (19,897) 12,399 (819) 11,580
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW 

 

The consolidated statement of cash flow includes the cash flows related to the discontinued operation PCAN and 

sold companies until divestment. 

Proceeds from borrowings in 2017 are related to the discontinued operation PCAN and the related balance sheet 

items are classified as held for sale liabilities in the balance sheet. See also note 4 for cash flows related to 

PCAN. 

USD 1,000

 

Note 

Year ended 31 

Dec 2018

Year ended 31 

Dec 2017

Cash flow from operating activities

Profit/(loss) after income tax (including disposal group) (11,716) (32,484)

Adjustments:

Changes in tax related accruals (299) (361)

Paid taxes (153) (208)

  Share-based payments 8      183 432

Share of profit from associated companies, incl impairments 15    419 4,543

  Depreciation. Amortization and impairments 13    6,026 14,855

Loss on sale of subsidiaries and other shares 1,523 345

  Currency translation effects (713) 1,153

  Change in trade receivables 410 (111)

  Change in trade payables (38) 81

Change in other accrual and non-current items (1,067) (962)

Net cash flow from/(used in) operating activities (5,425) (12,717)

Cash flow from investing activities

Investment in furniture, fixtures and office machines (364) (1,187)

Investment in intangible assets (1,397) (1,839)

Investment in associated companies -                    (4,577)

Sale of associated company -                    3,712

Sale of subsidiary 4      114 159

Net cash flow from/(used in) investing activities (1,649) (3,733)

Cash flow from financing activities

Net proceeds from share issues -                    4,598

Proceeds from borrowings -                    248

Repayment of debt 20    (120) -                   

Net cash flow from/(used in) financing activities (120) 4,846

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (7,194) (11,604)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period

10,247 21,960

Changes in cash classified as asset held for sale (44) (110)

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 3,009 10,246
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

NOTE 1.1: GENERAL INFORMATION  

Cxense ASA, the parent company of the Cxense group (the group), is a limited liability company incorporated and 

domiciled in Norway, with its head office in Karenslyst Allé 4, 0278 Oslo. Cxense is a global technology company, 

which delivers innovative and intuitive products that help companies build unique online experiences. 

These consolidated financial statements have been approved for issuance by the board of directors on 9 April 

2019 and are subject to approval by the Annual General Meeting (AGM) on 8 May 2019. 

Critical accounting estimates and accounting judgements are described in Note 13 capitalization of intangible 

assets and note 14 impairment. 

NOTE 1.2: SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE CURRENT REPORTING PERIOD  

The financial position and performance for the Group was particularly affected by the following events and 

transactions during the reporting period: 

• The acquisition of Enreach Oy which will enable the companies to capture operational synergies as well 

as to over time create a more integrated and competitive DMP offering and fuel the Cxense growth 

capabilities. 

• The impairments of Maxifier and Video product lines, reported as held for sale. In the fourth quarter 2018 

the Group further concluded that the Video product will continue as part of the Group and is not regarded 

as held for sale anymore. 

• The subsidiary Maxifier Ltd was divested in the fourth quarter 2018 as a consequence of the divestments 

of non-core operation strategy. 

NOTE 2: GENERAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

The general accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out 

below. Specific accounting principles are described in the relevant notes.  

Basis for preparation 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union (EU) and in accordance with the additional requirements 

following the Norwegian Accounting Act.  

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for fair value of contingent 

considerations in business combinations and a purchase option. Further, held for sale assets and disposal groups 

are measured at the lowest of fair value less cost of sale and its carrying amount.  

The consolidated financial statements are presented in US Dollars (USD). Amounts are rounded to the nearest 

thousand, unless otherwise stated. As a result of rounding adjustments, amounts and percentages may not add 

up to the total. 

Foreign currency 

Functional currency, presentation currency and consolidation 

The group’s presentation currency is USD. The functional currency of the parent company is NOK.  

For consolidation purposes, the balance sheet figures for subsidiaries with a different functional currency than 

USD are translated into the presentation currency (USD) at the rate applicable at the balance sheet date. Income 

statements are translated at the exchange rate that approximates the prevailing rate at the date of transaction. 

Exchange differences from translating subsidiaries are recognized in other comprehensive income.  
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Transactions in foreign currency 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates at the 

transaction date. Monetary balances in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency at the 

exchange rates on the date of the balance sheet. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from 

the settlement of such transactions, and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated 

in foreign currencies are generally recognized in the income statement.  

Principles of consolidation  

Subsidiaries 

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the group has control. The group controls an 

entity when the group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity, and has 

the ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully 

consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the group. They are deconsolidated from the date 

that control ceases. 

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combinations by the group (refer to the 

business combinations section below). 

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealized gains on transactions between group companies are 

eliminated. Unrealized losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of 

the transferred asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure 

consistency with the policies adopted by the group. 

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated 

statement of profit or loss, statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and balance 

sheet, respectively. 

If the group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognizes the assets, liabilities and non-controlling interest, and 

reclassify to profit or loss, or transfers directly to retained earnings as appropriate, the amounts recognized in 

other comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary. 

Changes in ownership interests 

The group treats transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss of control as transactions 

with equity owners of the group. A change in ownership interest results in an adjustment between the carrying 

amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests to reflect their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any 

difference between the amount of the adjustment to non-controlling interests, and any consideration paid or 

received, is recognized in a separate reserve within equity attributable to owners. 

When the group ceases to consolidate or equity account for an investment because of a loss of control, joint 

control or significant influence, any retained interest in the entity is re-measured to its fair value with the change in 

carrying amount recognized in profit or loss. This fair value becomes the initial carrying amount for the purposes 

of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, 

any amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity, are accounted for as 

if the group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously 

recognized in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss. 

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but joint control or significant influence is retained, only a 

proportionate share of the amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit 

or loss where appropriate. 

Provisions 

A provision is recognized when the group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, 

it is probable (i.e., more likely than not) that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and 

the amount can be reliably estimated. At each balance sheet date, the provisions are reviewed and adjusted to 

reflect the current best estimate. Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be 
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required to settle the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognized as finance 

cost. 

Government grants 

Government grants, such as “Skattefunn”, are recognized in profit and loss in the period they are granted for. The 

grants are presented as a reduction of the applicable costs. 

Government grants related to capitalized expenses and investments in hardware are presented in the balance by 

deducting the grant in arriving at the carrying amount of the asset. 

NOTE 3: BUSINESS COMBINATIONS 

Accounting principles 

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for all business combinations, regardless of whether 

equity instruments or other assets are acquired. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary 

comprises the fair values of the assets transferred, liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquired 

business, equity interests issued by the group, fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent 

consideration arrangement and fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the subsidiary. 

Identifiable assets acquired, and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are, with 

limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair values as of the acquisition date. The group recognizes any non-

controlling interest in the acquired entity on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at fair value, or at the non-

controlling interests proportionate share of the acquired entity’s net identifiable assets.  

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.  

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognized as an asset measured at the excess of the sum of the consideration 

transferred, the fair value of any previously held equity interests and the amount of any non-controlling interests in 

the acquired entity over the net amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after 

reassessment, the group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquired entity’s identifiable assets, liabilities and 

contingent liabilities exceeds the total consideration of the business combination, the excess is recognized in the 

income statement immediately. 

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the amounts payable in the future are discounted 
to their present value as at the date of exchange. The discount rate used is the entity’s incremental borrowing 
rate, being the rate at which a similar borrowing could be obtained from an independent financier under 
comparable terms and conditions.  
 
Contingent consideration is classified either as equity or a financial liability. Amounts classified as a financial 

liability are subsequently re-measured to fair value with changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss.  

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s previously 

held equity interest in the acquisition is re-measured to fair value at the acquisition date. Any gains or losses 

arising from such re-measurement are recognized in profit or loss. 

 

Acquisition of Enreach Solutions OY 

On 30 April 2018, the group acquired 100% of the share capital of Enreach Solutions OY (Enreach), a Finnish 

Data Management Platform provider. The transaction consideration is Cxense shares and includes a share-based 

earn out structure. The total purchase price, including contingent considerations, is EUR 945 thousand (USD 

1,142 thousand at the exchange rate at the date of acquisition).  
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Details of net assets acquired, and goodwill are as follows: 

 

123,789 shares, initially paid as part of the consideration for 100% of Enreach, were issued at a price of NOK 55 

per share. At 18 October 2018 additional 7,576 new shares were issued as part of the consideration at a 

subscription price of NOK 55. The share issue represents the final closing adjustment amount in the Enreach 

transaction.  

The Seller will be entitled to an earn-out of EUR 900,000 if the Cxense share has traded at a volume weighted 

average higher than NOK 80 for a period of 10 consecutive days within three years after the closing of the 

transaction and an additional EUR 900,000 if the Cxense share has traded at a volume weighted average higher 

than NOK 120 for a period of 10 consecutive days within the same period. The earn-out can be settled by Cxense 

in cash or in Cxense shares. The contingent consideration (the net present value of the earn-outs) is calculated 

by an independent party. As of 31 December 2018, the earnout is valuated at USD 49 thousand and a fair value 

adjustment of USD 189 thousand was recognized as financial income. 

The goodwill is attributable to assumed synergies resulting from combination of the Enreach DMP features with 

the Cxense DMP features. The synergies are expected to be operational as well as creating a more integrated 

and competitive DMP offering. 

The assets and liabilities arising from the acquisition are as follows:    

 

The purchase price allocation is final. 

In the consolidated financial statement of 2018, the acquisition of Enreach contributed USD 351 thousand to 

revenue and USD -1,056 thousand to net profit before tax for the Group. If the business combination had taken 

place at the beginning of the year, Enreach would have contributed revenue of USD 778 thousand and net profit 

before tax of USD -928 thousand for the Group. 

USD 1,000 On acquisition

Purchase consideration:

 - Shares issued 851

 - Additional share issued 53

 - Contingent consideration 238

Total purchase consideration 1,142

Fair value of assets acquired (see below) -46

Goodwill 1,188

USD 1,000 Fair value

Customer relationships 599

Technology 1,591

Trade and other receivables 222

Cash and cash equivalents 1

Long-term liabilities (1,062)

Trade and other payables (384)

Other current liabilities (575)

Deferred tax liabilities (438)

Net assets acquired (46)
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NOTE 4: HELD FOR SALE ASSETS, DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS AND DISPOSAL OF 

OPERATIONS 

Accounting principles 

Non-current assets (or disposal groups) are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered 

principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use and a sale is considered highly probable. 

They are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell, except for assets such 

as deferred tax assets, assets arising from employee benefits and financial assets. 

An impairment loss is recognized for any initial or subsequent write-down of the asset (or disposal group) to fair 

value less costs to sell. A gain is recognized for any subsequent increases in fair value less costs to sell of an 

asset (or disposal group), but not in excess of any cumulative impairment loss previously recognized. A gain or 

loss not previously recognized by the date of the sale of the non-current asset (or disposal group) is recognized at 

the date of derecognition. 

Non-current assets (including those that are part of a disposal group) are not depreciated or amortized while they 

are classified as held for sale.  

Non-current assets classified as held for sale and the assets of a disposal group classified as held for sale are 

presented separately from the other assets in the balance sheet. The liabilities of a disposal group classified as 

held for sale are presented separately from other liabilities in the balance sheet. 

A discontinued operation is a component of the entity that has been disposed of or is classified as held for sale 

and that represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations. The results of 

discontinued operations are presented separately in the statement of profit or loss. PCAN is defined as a 

discontinued operation. 

The criteria for held for sale classification is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the asset 

(or disposal group) is available for immediate sale in its present condition. If the criteria is no longer met, the entity 

shall cease to classify the assets as held for sale. In such cases, the asset (or disposal group) shall be measured 

at the lower of its carrying amount before the asset (or disposal group) were classified as held for sale, adjusted 

for any depreciation/amortization that would have been recognized had the asset not been classified as held for 

sale, and the recoverable amount at the date of the subsequent decision to not sell. 

Held for sale assets and disposal groups 

In 2017 Cxense announced a restructuring of the group and an intention to sell all non-core operations. As a 

consequence, the group were actively searching for potential buyers for the following operations: 

Cxense intended to sell the technology and customer base in Maxifier and disposal was expected to occur in 

2018. The assets were classified as held for sale and measured at the lowest of carrying amount and fair value 

less cost of sale. In 2018 an impairment of USD 1.6 million (net after tax USD 1.3 million) was recognized. Effect 

of impairment of Maxifier in 2017 amounted to USD 0.4. million. Maxifier Ltd, the owner of the held for sale 

assets, were sold in December 2018 and the transaction is described in a separate section below. 

Video (previously Ramp) was acquired by Cxense in 2015 as an asset purchase. The management intended to 

sell the technology and the customer base. From 2017, the assets were classified as held for sale and measured 

at the lowest of carrying amount and fair value less cost of sale. This led to the recognition of an impairment of 

USD 5.1 million in 2017. Additional impairments of USD 1.9 million were recognized in 2018, before finally 

concluding that Video will not be sold and as such Video is not a part of the held for sale assets per 31 December 

2018. The carrying amount of USD 1.7 million was reclassified to intangible assets. 

Discontinued operations  

A sale process has been initiated for PCAN (Premium Audience Network, s.l.u. owned 53.8% by Cxense ASA), 

previously reported as a separate segment. PCAN is presented as discontinued operation in the income 

statement and comparative periods have been restated. In the statement of financial position, as of 31 December 

2017 and 31 December 2018, PCAN is classified as held for sale. The sale was closed in April 2019. 
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Net income from PCAN is reported on a separate line in 2018 and 2017. PCAN is measured at the lowest of its 

carrying amount and fair value less cost of sale. No impairment was recognized. 

The results of PCAN for the years 2018 and 2017 are presented below: 

 

The net cash flows generated by PCAN were: 

 

In the statement of financial position, the major classes of assets and liabilities classified as held for sale per 31 

December 2018 were related to PCAN and per 31 December 2017 were related to Maxifier operation, Ramp and 

PCAN and were as follows:   

 

Non-controlling interests owns 46.2% of PCAN. In 2018 net loss of USD 145 thousand was allocated to the non-

controlling interest (USD 356 thousand in 2017).  

Disposal of operations 

Maxifier Ltd 

Maxifier Ltd, a 100% owned subsidiary of Cxense ASA, was sold on 18 December 2018. The sales price for the 

shares was USD 175,000, all of which is subject to a vendor credit agreement with maturity date 1 January 2021. 

Cxense retains ownership of the remaining 30% of Maxifier Ltd. Maxifier Development was not a part of the 

transaction. 

The buyer has an option to acquire further 50% of the remaining shares in Maxifier held by Cxense, 

corresponding to 15% of shares currently outstanding. The option expires on 20 November 2020.  

As a consequence of the transaction, a loss of USD 1.3 million was recognized, of which 30% was derecognized 

following the loss of control and the recognition as an associated company to its fair value. This is a non-cash 

transaction, however as a consequence of losing control, cash of USD 0.2 million in Maxifier Ltd is derecognized 

USD 1,000 2018 2017

Revenue 2,688                2,837                

Expenses (2,964)              (3,546)              

Net Operating loss (275)                  (709)                  

Net financial items (9)                      (41)                    

Net loss before taxes (284)                                    (750)

Taxes -                    -                    

Net income/(loss) for the period from discontinuing operations (284)                                    (750)

Earnings per share from discontinued operations:

Basic and diluted (0.0000)            (0.0001)            

USD 1,000 2018 2017

Cash flow from operating activities (92)                    (1,092)               

Cash flow from investing activities (22)                    11                     

Cash flow from financing activities 159                   1,007                

USD 1,000 2018 2017

Goodwill -                    728                   

Intangible assets -                    4,907                

Other non-current assets 16                     23                     

Current assets 571                   826                   

Total held for sale assets 588                   6,484                

Deferred tax liabilities -                    458                   

Other non-current liabilities 252                   264                   

Current liabilities 799                   1,063                

Total held for sale liabilities 1,051                1,785                
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from the balance sheet. Additional USD 0.5 million in other short-term assets and other short-term debt of USD 

0.2 million were derecognized. 

Emediate Aps 

Emediate Aps, a 100% owned subsidiary of Cxense ASA with approximately 70 customers, was sold on 14 

December 2017 for a consideration of USD 0.7 million (including expected future settlements). Cash received in 

2017 amounts to USD 0.3 million. Additional cash payment of USD 0.3 million were received in 2018. Emediate 

Aps was a part of the Saas segment. Before the transaction, the disposal group was re-measured at the lowest of 

its carrying amount and fair value, and an impairment of USD 4.7 million was recognized. Goodwill was impaired 

with USD 3.8 million and USD 0.8 million related to other intangible assets. At sale, a loss of USD 0.3 million was 

recognized from the sale, due to the recycling of previously recognized currency translation differences in other 

comprehensive income. 

NOTE 5: SEGMENT INFORMATION  

Accounting principles 

An operating segment is a component of an entity that engages in business activities from which it may earn 

revenues and incur expenses. Furthermore, the entity’s component’s operating results are regularly reviewed 

by the entity’s chief operating decision maker to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment 

and to assess its performance, and thus separate financial information is available. The company has 

determined that the board of directors is collectively the chief operating decision maker.  

The group has previously been organized into two operating segments based on product and services; Cxense 

SaaS and PCAN. In 2017 PCAN was designated as held for sale and discontinued operation. Following this, 

PCAN was reclassified to net income (loss) for the period from discontinuing operations and SaaS became the 

only group operating segment, thus, segment information is not provided. 

The segment information is reported in accordance with the reporting to board of directors (chief operating 

decision makers) and is consistent with financial information used for assessing performance and allocating 

resources. EBITDA is defined as segment profit or loss (please see page 91 of this report for definitions of 

alternative performance measures including EBITDA). 

Information about major customers 

The company does not have single customers that generate 10% or more of the entity's total revenue. 

 

NOTE 6: REVENUE  
 

Accounting principles 

Revenue 

The group provides its customers with a right to access Cxense software, which is hosted on Cxense servers 

and represent intellectual property of Cxense. This right, or license, is regarded as a performance obligation. 

Some license contracts include onboarding services which is an integral part of the license and not a separate 

performance obligation. As such, any onboarding services is included in the transaction price of the license. 

The transaction price is recognized over time as the service is delivered. 

Free license periods are amortized over the contract period. 

Contracts are generally signed for a period of 12 months, with quarterly in advance invoicing and payment 

terms of 30 days. 

The group also provides consulting services on special request, which is a separate performance obligation and 

recognized at delivery. 
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Contract costs 

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are recognized as an asset if the costs are expected to be recovered. 

The costs are recognized as an asset and amortized on a systematic basis consistent with the pattern of the 

transfer of the services to which the asset relates. Cxense applies the practical expedient for costs where 

expected amortization period is one year or less. 

Contract assets and contract liabilities 

Contract assets relate to consideration for work completed, but not yet invoiced at the reporting date. The contract 

assets are transferred to trade receivables when the right to payment become unconditional, which usually occurs 

when invoices are issued to the customers. Contract liabilities relate to advances from customer for work not yet 

performed. 

Specification of revenue 

 
 

Contract assets and contract liabilities 

 

 

 

Remaining performance obligation amounts to USD 3.3 million of which USD 2.2 million is expected to be 

recognized in the year 2019, USD 0.8 million in 2020 and USD 0.3 million thereafter. The amounts do not include 

variable considerations. As permitted by IFRS 15, unsatisfied contracts of a duration of one year or less are not 

disclosed. 

 

USD 1,000 EMEA Japan LatAm NorthAm APAC Total

DMP & Personalization (core) 4,862         4,702         1,509         2,217         1,746         15,036      

Other (non-core) 1,145         (2)               96              3,070         -             4,309         

Revenue from license 6,007         4,700         1,605         5,287         1,746         19,345      

DMP & Personalization (core) 48              35              4                 26              13              126            

Other (non-core) 2                 -             -             3                 -             5                 

Revenue from onboarding 50              35              4                 29              13              131            

DMP & Personalization (core) 101            116            5                 290            4                 516            

Other (non-core) -             -             -             243            -             243            

Revenue from consulting services 101            116            5                 533            4                 759            

Other revenue (non-core) -             

Revenue from contracts with customers 6,158         4,851         1,614         5,849         1,763         20,235      

Of which DMP & Personalization (Core) 5,011        4,853        1,518        2,533        1,763        15,678      

Of which other (non-core) 1,147        (2)               96              3,316        -            4,557        

2018

USD 1,000 2018

 Restated 

2017 

Contract assets 189                   317                   

Contract liabilities 1,292                1,379                

USD 1,000

Contract 

assets

Contract 

liabilities

Revenue recognised that was included in the contract liability balance at the 

beginning of the period 1,331                

Transfers from contract assets recognised at the beginning of the period to 

receivables 299                   

2018
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NOTE 7: COST OF SALES 

Specification of cost of sales 

 

NOTE 8: EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE 

Accounting principles 

Share-based payment 

Share-based compensation benefits are provided to executives and senior employees. 
 
Equity-settled, share-based payments are measured at fair value (excluding the effect of non-market-based 
vesting conditions) at the date of grant. The fair value, calculated by applying the Black-Scholes option-pricing 
model, is expensed over the vesting period as an employee benefits expense, with a corresponding increase in 
equity.  
 
The vesting period is the period over which all of the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied. At the end of 
each period, the entity revises its estimates of the number of options and subscription rights that are expected to 
vest, based on the non-market vesting and service conditions. It recognizes the impact of the revision to original 
estimates, if any, in profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.  
 
Social security contributions payable in connection with an option grant are considered an integral part of the 
grant itself. The charges are treated as cash-settled, share-based payments and re-measured at each reporting 
date. 
 
When the options are exercised, the appropriate number of shares are transferred to the employee. The proceeds 

received from the exercise of the options and subscription rights (net of any directly attributable transaction costs) 

are credited directly to equity.  

Pension plans 

The group has a defined contribution plan for some of its employees. The group’s payments are recognized in the 

income statement as employee benefit expenses for the year to which the contribution applies. 

Specification of employee expense 

 

See note 23 for information regarding remuneration to management. 

The average number of employees in 2018 was 121, compared to 130 in 2017. 

Pensions 

Cxense ASA (the parent company) is obligated to follow the stipulations in the Norwegian mandatory occupational 

pensions act. The company's pension scheme adheres to the requirements, as set in the act. 

Specification of Cost of sale

USD 1,000 2018 2017 

Hosting costs 3,675                4,255                

Other cost of sale 434                    578                    

Total Cost of sale 4,110                4,833                

USD 1,000 2018 2017 

Payroll expense 9,084 15,153

Share-based payments excluding social security tax 183 432

Social security tax 1,100 1,722

Pensions 228 253

Other personnel expense 1,442 2,516

Capitalized personnel expense (1,072) (1,526)

Total employee benefit expense 10,966 18,551
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Pension rights of group employees vary between the legal entities. However, all of the plans are defined as 

contribution plans. The contribution plan had 32 members in 2018 (37 in 2017). 

Share-based payments 

Since mid-2018, and from 2012 to 2014, the Company has had in place incentive share option plans available for 

employees in the Company and its Subsidiaries and affiliated companies. All future grants of share-based 

incentives shall be made under the share option plans, while issued and outstanding subscription rights under the 

former subscription rights plans (from 2014 to mid-2018) shall remain in effect in accordance with their terms.  

The exercise price of the share options for previous years is equal to the market price of the Cxense ASA share 

on the date of grant.  

The exercise price for each granted share option under the 2018 Plan shall, at a minimum, equal the market price 

per share as of the date of the grant, which market value, shall equal the average closing price on the Company's 

share, as reported on the Oslo Stock Exchange, over a period of 10 (ten) trading days immediately preceding the 

date of grant of the share option. 

The share options vest over a four-year period, providing the employee is still employed by the group.   

Amounts in NOK: 

Parameters connected to instruments granted in 2018 

 

*Weighted average parameters at grant of instrument 

Quantity and weighted average prices 

 

Overview of outstanding instruments  

 

Instrument

Quantity 

31.12.2018 

(instruments)

Quantity 

31.12.2018 

(shares)

Contractual 

life*

Strike 

price*

Share 

price*

Expected 

lifetime* Volatility*

Interest 

rate*

FV per 

instrument*

Vesting 

conditions

Option 269,000           269,000      5.00             33.67 37.10 3.00         45.44% 1.23% 12.83           Service time

Subscription Rights 195,000           195,000      4.10             45.49 42.38 4.10         70.00% 1.31% 21.92           Service time

Activity

Weighted 

Average 

Strike Price

Outstanding opening balance as of 1 January 2018 36,325           122.14           

Granted 344,000         33.67             

Exercised

Forfeited (75,675)          34.48             

Expired (29,025)          121.42           

Outstanding closing balance as of 31 December 2018 275,625         35.87             

Vested CB 6,625             125.00           

Number of instruments        

01.01.2018 - 31.12.2018

Strike price (NOK) 

Number of 

instruments

Weighted 

Average 

remaining 

contractual life

Weighted 

Average 

Strike Price

Vested 

instruments 

31.12.2018

Weighted 

Average 

Strike Price

33.67                                                            269,000         5.00                   33.67             -                  -                  

125.00                                                          6,625             4.98                   125.00           6,625             125.00           

Total 275,625         6,625             

Outstanding Instruments Vested Instruments
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Subscription rights program  

In the period from 2014 to mid-2018 Cxense had a subscription rights incentives program for employees, adopted 

by the board of directors. 

At the 2 April 2014 AGM, the shareholders adopted a new subscription rights plan available for employees in the 

company, and its subsidiaries and affiliated companies. At the 10 May 2017 AGM, the shareholders renewed the 

subscription rights plan adopted at the 2 April 2014 AGM and renewed 13 May 2015 and 12 May 2016.  

Unless specifically resolved otherwise, 25 percent of the subscription rights vest each 12 months following the 

date of the grant and expire on the fifth anniversary following the date of the grant. Vesting of the subscription 

rights terminate on the holder's last working day. Vested subscription rights may be exercised up to 90 days after 

the holder's last working day. 

Amounts in NOK: 

Quantity and weighted average prices 

 

Overview of outstanding instruments  

 

 

 

All share options and subscription rights vest over 4 years. The volatility is based on comparable companies.  

  

Activity

Number of 

instruments

Weighted 

Average 

Strike Price

Outstanding opening balance as of 1 January 2018 478,325         73.67             

Granted 239,500         45.48             

Exercised   

Forfeited (257,250)       64.73             

Expired (50,125)          132.35           

Outstanding closing balance as of 31 December 2018 410,450         55.66             

Vested CB 94,950           82.65             

01.01.2018 - 31.12.2018

Strike price (NOK)

Number of 

instruments

Weighted 

Average 

remaining 

contractual life

Weighted 

Average 

Strike Price

Vested 

instruments 

31.12.2018

Weighted 

Average 

Strike Price

36.34                                                            70,000           4.67                   36.34             17,500           36.34             

39.23                                                            87,500           3.96                   39.23             33,125           39.23             

43.08                                                            40,000           4.08                   43.08             -                  -                  

46.11                                                            155,000         4.10                   46.11             -                  -                  

101.85                                                          5,000             5.00                   101.85           3,750             101.85           

109.40                                                          17,375           4.16                   109.40           15,750           109.40           

125.00                                                          7,575             4.89                   125.00           7,575             125.00           

165.80                                                          28,000           4.20                   165.80           17,250           165.80           

410,450         94,950           

Outstanding Instruments Vested Instruments

Subscription rights and share options Number

Subscription rights and share optons terminated in 2018 332,925

Subscription rights and share options exercised in 2018 0

Subscription rights and share options expired in 2018 79,150

Vested share options 101,575
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NOTE 9:  OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES 

Specification of other operating expenses 

 

Specification of auditors’ fees: 

 

NOTE 10:  FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSE 

 

NOTE 11:  TAX  

Accounting principles 

Income tax expense for the period comprises current tax expense and deferred tax expense. 

Tax is recognized in the income statement, except to the extent that it relates to items recognized in other 

comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognized in other comprehensive 

income or directly in equity. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated on the basis of existing temporary differences between the 

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statement and their tax basis, together with tax losses 

carried forward at the balance sheet date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated based on the tax rates 

and tax legislation that are expected to apply when the assets are realized, or the liabilities are settled, based on 

the tax rates and tax legislation that have been enacted or substantially enacted on the balance sheet date. 

Deferred tax assets are recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available, 

USD 1,000 2018 2017

Audit, legal and other consulting fees 3,343 3,520

Office rental and related expenses 1,585 1,818

Marketing and representation 579 1,063

Travel expenses 868 1,236

Write-down/reversal trade receivables 667 87

Other operating expense 2,088 1,188

Capitalized other operating expense (325) (313)

Total  other operating expense 8,804 8,600

USD 1,000  2018 2017

Statutory audit 110                    102                    

Other assurance services 8                        7                        

Tax advisory services 16                      30                      

Other advisory services 29                      21                      

Total auditor's fees  (excl. VAT) 163                    160

USD 1,000 2018 2017

Interest income 13 37

Currency income 476 381

Change in fair value of financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 189 0

Other financial income 106 0

Total finance income 785 418

Interest expense 20 16

Other financial expenses 248 80

Currency expenses 296 557

Total finance expense 564 653

Net financial income/(expense) 220 (235)
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against which the assets can be utilized. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted. Deferred tax 

assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current 

tax liabilities, and when the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation 

authority on the same taxable entity. 

The companies included in the consolidated financial statement are subject to income tax in the countries where 

they are domiciled. 

Specification of income tax:  

 

Income tax payable is mainly withholding tax. 

Specification of tax effects of temporary differences: 

 

Capitalization of deferred income tax assets is subject to strict requirements in respect of the ability to 

substantiate sufficient taxable profit will be available against which the unused tax losses can be utilized. Based 

on these requirements, no deferred tax asset from Cxense ASA has been recognized. 

The major part of tax losses carried forward relates to the parent company, and for this part, there is no time-limit 

related to when the tax losses may be utilized. 

  

USD 1,000 2018 2017 

Income tax payable 407 811

Deferred tax income (374) (513)

Total income tax expense 33 298

USD 1,000 2018 2017 

Intangible assets 525 577

Other temporary differences 234 259

Tax losses carried forward 14,372           14,395

Total basis for deferred tax 15,131 15,232

Deferred tax asset not recognised (15,497)         (15,675)          

Deferred tax asset (+) / liability (-) (366)               (443)                

Whereof:

Presented as deferred tax asset -                 16                    

Presented as deferred tax liability (366)               (0)                     

Presented as held for sale liability -                 (458)                

Deferred tax asset (+) / liability (-) (366)               (443)                
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Reconciliation of effective tax rate: 

 

Movements in deferred tax: 

 

*Includes deferred tax liabilities classified as held for sale at 1 January 2018    

 

  

2018 2017 

Net loss before tax for continuing operations (11,398) (31,436)

Expected income tax assessed at the tax rate for the Parent company 23% (24%) (2,622)           (7,545)             

Adjusted for tax effect of the following items: 

   Permanent differences 1,384             1,830              

   Change in not recognised deferred tax asset/valuation allowance (179)               4,520              

   Profit and loss from associated companies 96                  1,090              

   Withheld tax 333                508                 

Uncertain tax position 165                -                  

Currency translation effects 872                (559)                

   Effect of different tax rate in subsidiaries (17)                 453                 

Total income tax expense for continuing operations 33 298

Effective income tax rate 0 % -1 %

USD 1,000 2018 2017 

Carrying amount net deferred tax assets (+)/ liabilities(-) at 1 January*) (443) (769)

Effect to opening balance of implementation of IFRS 15 Contracts with customers 7 -                  

Recognised as income/expense (-) in income statement 374 513

Disposal of operations 122 (212)

Acquisition of company (438) -                  

Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets 0

Carrying amount net deferred tax assets (+)/ liabilities(-) at 31 December (366) (443)
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NOTE 12: EARNINGS PER SHARE 

Accounting principles 

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit attributable to ordinary shares using the 

weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year after deduction of the average number 

of treasury shares held over the period. 

The calculation of diluted earnings per share is consistent with the calculation of the basic earnings per share, but 

at the same time gives effect to all dilutive potential ordinary shares that were outstanding during the period, by 

adjusting the profit/loss and the weighted average number of shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive 

potential shares, i.e.:  

• The profit/loss for the period attributable to ordinary shares is adjusted for changes in profit/loss that 

would result from the conversion of the dilutive potential ordinary shares 

• The weighted average number of ordinary shares is increased by the weighted average number of 

additional ordinary shares that would have been outstanding, assuming the conversion of all dilutive 

potential ordinary shares  

 

Description 

 

 

 
1) The company has 686,075 potential dilutive shares from share options and subscription rights outstanding, of 

which no incremental shares were in the money as per 31 December 2018.  

  

USD 1,000 2018 2017

Net income/(loss) for total operation for the year attributable to the 

parent company (11,571) (32,128)

Weighted average number of shares outstanding for basic earnings per 

share 9,040,992 8,231,802

  

Earnings per share for total operations

 - Basic (0.0013) (0.0039)

 - Diluted (1) (0.0013) (0.0039)

Net income/(loss) for continuing operation for the year attributable to the 

parent company (11,432)                           (31,734)           

Earnings per share for continuing operations

 - Basic (0.0013)                           (0.0039)           

 - Diluted (1) (0.0013)                           (0.0038)           
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NOTE 13: INTANGIBLE AND FIXED ASSETS 

 

Accounting Principles 

Intangible assets 

Intangible assets acquired separately that have a finite useful life are carried at cost less accumulated 

amortization and any impairment charges. Amortization is calculated on a straight-line basis over the assets’ 

expected useful life and adjusted for any impairment charges. 

Internally generated intangible assets 

Expenditures on research activities, undertaken with the prospect of gaining new technical knowledge and 

understanding, are recognized in profit or loss as incurred.  

Expenditures on development activities are capitalized, providing a future financial benefit relating to the 

development of an identifiable intangible asset can be identified and the expenses can be reliably measured. 

Otherwise, such expenses are expensed as and when incurred. Capitalized development cost is amortized on a 

straight-line basis over the assets’ expected useful life and adjusted for any impairment charges. 

Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost, less accumulated depreciation and any impairment 

charges. Depreciations are calculated on a straight-line basis over the assets’ expected useful life and adjusted 

for any impairment charges. Expected useful lives of long-lived assets are reviewed annually, and, where they 

differ significantly from previous estimates, depreciation periods are changed accordingly. Ordinary repairs and 

maintenance costs are charged to the income statement during the financial period in which they are incurred. 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the disposal proceeds with the carrying amount and 

are included in operating profit. Major assets with different expected useful lives are reported as separate 

components.  

Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for potential impairment whenever events or changes in 

circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. 

The difference between the assets carrying amount and its recoverable amount is recognized in the income 

statement as impairment. Property, plant and equipment that have suffered impairment are reviewed for possible 

reversal of the impairment at each reporting date. 

Critical accounting judgments 

Capitalization of intangible assets 

The group works continuously on improving its technical platforms. This work involves both maintenance, and 

research and development. Most of these activities are very integrated, and there is often no clear distinction 

between them, making it difficult to assess if the activities are maintenance, research or development. The 

management has assessed that the specific criteria for capitalization of development costs have been met. 
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Description 

 

 

 

For further details on impairments, disposal of operations and reclassification from held for sale, see note 4. 

R&D expenses of USD 5 million has been recognized in 2018 as operating expense, compared with USD 4.7 

million in 2017. 

USD 1,000 Development

Other 

Intangible 

assets 
1)

Office 

machinery, 

equipment etc. Total

Cost

Cost at 1 January 2017 3,796 14,520 955 19,271

1,369 34 1,153 2,556

Disposals (17) (17)

Disposal of operations (5,610) (42) (5,652)

Reclassification to held for sale (8,796) (45) (8,841)

Currency effects 214 7 32 253

Cost at 31 December 2017 5,379 155 2,036 7,570

1,207 14 404 1,625

Disposals (2) (2)

Disposal of operations (70) (525) (595)

Purchase of operations 1,591 599 2,190

Reclassification from held for sale 6,841 6,841

Currency effects (446) (260) (89) (795)

Cost at 31 December 2018 7,661 7,349 1,824 16,834

Depreciation and impairment

Accumulated at 1 January 2017 (951) (5,533) (737) (7,221)

Amortization and depreciation for the year (1,160) (2,342) (210) (3,712)

Impairment (967) (1,238) (73) (2,278)

Disposals 14 14

Disposal of operations 5,192 29 5,221

Reclassification to held for sale 3,901 18 3,919

Currency effects (70) (42) (19) (131)

Accumulated at 31 December 2017 (3,148) (62) (978) (4,188)

Amortization and depreciation for the year (1,715) (306) (413) (2,434)

Impairment (2,008) (2,008)

Disposals 2 2

Disposal of operations 70 523 593

Reclassification from held for sale (3,106) (3,106)

Currency effects 274 260 51 585

Accumulated at 31 December 2018 (4,519) (5,222) (815) (10,556)

1) Other intangible assets includes mainly customerbase and technology acquired in business combinations

Carrying amount at 31 December 2017 2,231 93 1,058 3,382

Carrying amount at 31 December 2018 3,142 2,127 1,009 6,278

Depreciation plan Linear Linear Linear

Estimated useful life (years) 3 years 5-6 years 3-5 years

Additions

Additions
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NOTE 14: GOODWILL AND IMPAIRMENT 

Accounting principles 

Goodwill  

Goodwill does not generate cash flows independently of other assets or groups of assets and is allocated to the 

cash-generating units expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination that gave rise to the goodwill. A 

cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows that are largely 

independent of the cash inflows from other assets or group of assets. 

An impairment is recognized if the recoverable amount (the higher of fair value, less cost to sell, and value in use) 

of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount of the cash-generating unit. 

If goodwill has been allocated to a cash generating unit and the entity disposes of an operation within that unit, 

the goodwill associated to the operation disposed of shall be included in the carrying amount of the operation 

when determining the gain or loss on disposal.  

When a cash generating unit is reorganized and/or operation sold the goodwill allocated to that cash generating 

unit shall be measured on the basis of the relative values of the operation disposed/reorganized of and the portion 

of the cash-generating unit retained, unless the entity can demonstrate that some other method better reflects the 

goodwill associated with the operation disposed of.  

Impairment of assets  

Cash-generating units, to which goodwill has been allocated, are tested for impairment annually or more 

frequently if there is any indication that the cash-generating unit may be impaired. 

Other assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 

amount may not be recoverable. Intangible assets not yet brought into use are assessed for impairment annually. 

If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the group determines the 

recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 

An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable 

amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value, less costs to sell, and value in use. In 

assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value, using a discount 

rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset or the 

cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 

An impairment of other assets than goodwill is reviewed for possible reversal at the end of each reporting period. 

 

Critical accounting judgements 

Impairment 

Goodwill and intangible assets are tested for impairment annually or more often if indicators of impairment exist, 

whereas other assets are tested for impairment when circumstances indicate there may be a potential 

impairment. Factors that indicate impairment which trigger impairment testing include the following: significant fall 

in market values; significant underperformance relative to historical or projected future operating results; 

significant changes in the use of the assets or the strategy for the overall business, including assets that are 

decided to be phased out; significant negative industry or economic trends; significant loss of market share and 

significant cost overruns in the development of assets. See note 13 for further information. 
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Overview of goodwill 

 

Impairment testing 

The group is required to test, on an annual basis, whether the goodwill has suffered any impairment in line with 

IAS 36. The recoverable amount is determined based on value-in-use calculations. The use of this method 

requires the estimation of future cash flows and the determination of a discount rate in order to calculate the 

present value of the cash flows.  

All goodwill recognized in the group have been allocated to the SaaS segment. Each of the transactions have 

complemented the other transactions in terms of economic characteristics and cash flow. As such, the 

acquisitions made up a coherent business unit where it is no longer possible to separate out cash flows from one 

or the other of past acquisitions. However, during 2017 the Group decided to reorganize its operations. Emediate 

was sold and Ramp and part of Maxifier was designated as held for sale. The expected synergies and cash flows 

have not and will not appear, and the goodwill allocated to entities held for sale was based on the goodwill initially 

recognized at acquisition of the entities held for sale. Impairments were recognized in 2017 as a consequence of 

held for sale assessments. As of 31 December 2017, remaining goodwill was USD 4.8 million of which all 

allocated to the SaaS segment. 

For impairment purposes, the Cxense SaaS segment constitutes the smallest cash generating unit (CGU) that 

generates cash inflows that are largely independent. Goodwill will be assessed for impairment if any indications of 

impairments come up at the Cxense Saas segment, and at least annually in relation to the year-end closing.  

Discounted cash flow models are applied to determine the value in use. Management has projected cash flows 

based on the approved budget for 2019 and financial forecasts covering the years 2020 to 2028. The selected 

discounted cash flow time is used in order to show the value of the current sales force and to reduce the terminal 

value as a percentage of total valuation. Beyond the explicit forecast period of nine years, the cash flows are 

extrapolated using constant nominal growth rates. 

Revenue growth is estimated based on the budget for 2019 and the management expectations for the years 2020 

to 2028. The SaaS model implies that a consistent sales force could increase revenues substantially before churn 

on the portfolio exceeds new sales. 

EBITDA margin growth is mainly driven by higher gross profit due to the revenue growth combined with limited 

growth in OPEX. 

Terminal growth is set based on a conservative assessment equal to long-term expected inflation. 

The segment contains companies in different countries. This means that the different companies are exposed to 

different interest rates and tax rates. The tax rate in the WACC calculation should reflect the Group’s effective tax 

rate globally. There are zero tax leverage in Cxense and for simplicity, a tax rate of 23%, corresponding to the 

corporate tax rate in Norway in 2018 is used. 

The risk-free interest rate applied is a 10-year Euro zone central government bond as a proxy for the interest free 

rate. 

Beta is based on an average of peer companies in their segment with a small company premium.  

In the value-in-use calculation, the estimated recoverable amount exceeds the carrying amount with significant 

headroom. 

 

 

USD 1,000 Year

Gross amount of 

Goodwill as of 31 

December 2017

Accumulated 

impairment 

losses as of 31 

December 2017 Acquisitions

Currency 

translations

Goodwill as of 31 

December 2018

Goodwill allocated 

to SaaS
                       9,470                       (4,661)              1,188                (62)                        5,935 
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The following key assumptions have been applied to estimate the recoverable amount:  

• Revenue is based on the budget for 2018 and by projecting sales with average revenue (core) growth in 

explicit period is 16% 

• EBITDA margin of -12.6 to 29% in the projection period 

• Terminal value growth of 2.0% 

• WACC of 14.9%  

 

Sensitivity to changes in assumptions 

 

In connection with the impairment testing of goodwill, sensitivity analyses have been carried out. If any of the 

following changes were made to the key assumptions, all other assumptions being equal, the recoverable amount 

would equal the carrying amount. 

 

• Increase in revenue (core) needs to be lower than 13% per year in projection period 

• EBITDA need to be reduced by 51% in projection period  

  

If the company abandoned its growth strategy, all employees related to growing the portfolio could be made 

redundant, i.e. entering a harvest case. Only cost to maintain the current customer portfolio would be kept (e.g. 

key account managers, R&D bug fixing and maintenance, admin etc. This scenario could result in faster break 

even and equal the recoverable amount. Also, in this scenario, value in use exceeds carrying value. 

NOTE 15: ASSOCIATED COMPANIES AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 

Accounting principles 

Associated companies are all entities over which the company has significant influence, but not control or joint 

control. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the 

investee, but without the ability to have control over those policies. This is generally the case where the group 

holds between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity 

method of accounting, after initially being recognized at cost. 

Under the equity method of accounting, the investments are initially recognized at cost and adjusted thereafter to 

recognize the group’s share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of the investee in profit or loss, and the 

group’s share of movements in other comprehensive income of the investee in other comprehensive income. 

Dividends received or receivable from associates and joint ventures are recognized as a reduction in the carrying 

amount of the investment. 

When the group’s share of losses in an equity-accounted investment equals or exceeds its interest in the entity, 

including any other unsecured long-term receivables, the group does not recognize further losses, unless it has 

incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the other entity. 

Unrealized gains on transactions between the group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the group’s 

interest in these entities. Unrealized losses are also eliminated, unless the transaction provides evidence of an 

impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of equity accounted investees have been changed where 

necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the group. 

The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments is tested for impairment whenever events or changes in 

circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. 
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Overview of long-term financial assets 

 

Investment in associated companies 

Maxifier Ltd 

70% of Maxifier Ltd were sold by the end of 2018, see note 4. The remaining 30% were recognized at fair value 

and will be recognized using the equity method going forward. Maxifier Ltd is located in United Kingdom. 

RepKnight Ltd 

On 14 February 2017, Cxense invested GBP 3 million in cash for a 30% stake in RepKnight Ltd. Cxense holds 

135,978 shares in RepKnight after the transaction. RepKnight is located in United Kingdom. Cxense share in 

Repknight is diluted during 2018 and Cxense currently hold 15% of the shares. 

As of 31 December 2017, a share of loss of USD 1 million was recognized according to the equity method. 

Additionally, an USD 2.4 million impairment of the carrying amount on the balance sheet was recognized. In 2018 

additional share of loss were recognized with USD 0.4 million, bringing the carrying amount in the Group to zero. 

 

Investments in other shares and interests. 

The interest in Matchad AB were sold in 2018 and a loss were recognized.  

NOTE 16: TRADE RECEIVABLES 

Accounting principles 

Trade receivables and other current receivables are initially recognized at fair value. Trade receivables are non-

interest bearing and trading terms range from 30 to 60 days and therefor classified as current. The receivables 

are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, if the amortization effect is 

material, less provision for impairment. Other current receivables include prepayments and receivables on related 

parties. The group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a 

lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade receivables and contract assets. 

USD 1,000  2018 2017

Investment in associated companies 74 476

Investment in other shares and interests -                    197

Other long term receivables 670 656

Other long-term financial assets 744 1,329

USD 1,000 2018 2017

Fixed assets 56 134

Cash 634 1,098

Other assets 343 303

Total assets 1,032 1,535

Total liabilities (short-term) 528 586

Net assets 504                    949                    

Group's share of net assets: 76                      285                    

Excess values,  currency effects and other effects -76                     191                    

Carrying amount of Repknight (0)                      476                    

Total revenue 547                   394                   

Total profit for the year (4,259)              (3,621)              

Group share of profit (419)                  (985)                  

Impairment (2,411)              

Share of net income from associated company                   (419)                (3,396)
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The expected loss rates are based on payments profiles and customer contracts in the previous years. Majority of 

customer contracts are 12 months, invoiced quarterly in advance, with payment terms of 30 days. Receivables 

are grouped in four categories and the expected loss rates reflect a conservative approach over Cxense`s ability 

on collecting once receivables are overdue. The model takes into account specific cases in which a payment plan 

or agreement has been reached with the customer. 

 

 

 

The basis for loss allowance as of 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2018 was determined as follows: 

 

 

Movements in allowance for doubtful debt: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

USD 1,000 2018 2017

Trade receivables  2,473 2,507

Allowance for doubtful debts (379) (69)

Total trade receivables 2,094              2,438

31 December 2018

USD 1,000 Current

More than 30 

days past 

due

More than 60 

days past due

More than 90 

days past 

due Total

Expected loss rate 0,3 % 8,6 % 40,0 % 72,9 %

Gross carrying amount - trade receivables 1 521                    394                 200                      358                 2 473           Gross carrying amount - contract assets -               

Loss allowance (4)                          (34)                 (80)                      (261)               (379)            

1 January 2018

USD 1,000 Current

More than 30 

days past 

due

More than 60 

days past due

More than 90 

days past 

due Total

Expected loss rate 0.3% 3 % 3 % 10 %

Gross carrying amount - trade receivables 1 442                   496                125                     444                 2 507          

Loss allowance (4)                          (15)                 (4)                         (46)                  (69)               

USD 1,000 2018 2017

Balance at the beginning of the year 69                   255

Impairment losses recognized on receivables 667                 (16)

Amounts written off during the year as uncollectible (322)               (75)

Amounts reclassified within balance sheet, including to held for sale assets -                  (28)

Amounts related to disposal of operations (34)                  (71)

Impairment losses reversed -                  4

Balance at the end of the period 379                 69                 
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NOTE 17:  OTHER SHORT-TERM ASSETS 

 

NOTE 18:  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

Accounting principles 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits with banks and other short-term highly liquid 

investments with original maturities of three months or less. 

Description 

 

All cash and cash equivalents are bank deposits. 

NOTE 19:  SHARE CAPITAL AND SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION 

 

Capital issued during the year relates consideration of Enreach Solutions Oy, see note 3.  

The share capital is fully paid. 

Share options and subscription rights 

As of 31 December 2018, there were 686,075 outstanding share options and subscription rights outstanding to 

Cxense employees. This is an increase from 31 December 2017, when the company had 411,225 share options 

and subscription rights outstanding to Cxense employees. See Note 8 for further details. 

 

USD 1,000 2018 2017

Contract assets 189 261

Prepayments 337 525

Other short-term receivables 1,007 886

Other short term assets 1,533 1,672

USD 1,000 2018 2017

Bank deposits 3,009 10,247

Cash and cash equivalents 3,009 10,247

Cash and cash equivalents classified as held for sale assets 44 110

Restricted cash included in the above:

Withholding tax in relation to employee benefits 221 315

Other 25 25

 

Number of 

shares

Share capital 

NOK

Share capital 

USD 1,000

Balance at 1 January 2017 7,958,012 39,790,060 4,617

Issued during the year 1,000,000 5,000,000 642

Currency effects from translation of equity 201

Balance at 31 December 2017 8,958,012 44,790,060 5,459

Issued during the year 131,365 656,825 81

Currency effects from translation of equity (310)

Balance as at 31 December 2018 9,089,377 45,446,885 5,231
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20 largest shareholders registered in VPS as of 31 December 2018 

 

An updated list over the 20 largest shareholders can be found in the Investor Relations section of Cxense’s 

website www.cxense.com  

Number of shares owned directly or indirectly by executives and board of directors at 31 December 2018 

 

 

Shareholders Number of shares % Share

FERD AS 966,940 10.6%

ASAH AS 787,494 8.7%

Norron Sicav - Target 662,500 7.3%

VERDIPAPIRFONDET DNB SMB 515,368 5.7%

AKER CAPITAL AS 512,849 5.6%

POLARIS MEDIA ASA 467,528 5.1%

Charles Street International Holdi 416,666 4.6%

Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB 351,000 3.9%

HOLMEN SPESIALFOND 296,113 3.3%

Danske Invest Norge Vekst 280,000 3.1%

BIMO KAPITAL AS 272,613 3.0%

Norron Sicav - Select 242,500 2.7%

The Bank of New York Mellon SA/NV 200,000 2.2%

TVECO AS 165,000 1.8%

BIMO INVEST AS 150,080 1.7%

STRAWBERRY CAPITAL AS 122,001 1.3%

RAMS AS 121,888 1.3%

PESCARA INVEST AS 115,000 1.3%

WANI INVESTERING AS 102,469 1.1%

STOREBRAND VEKST VERDIPAPIRFOND 98,669 1.1%

Total top 20 shareholders 6,846,678 75.3%

Others 2,242,699 24.7%

Total 9,089,377 100.0%

Number of 

shares

% of total 

shares

Number of 

share options

Number of 

subscription 

rights

Lars Bjørn Thoresen, Chairman - privately and 

through LT Invest AS
38,677 0.4% 40,000 0

Liza Benson, board member 0 0.0% 0 0

Ingeborg Hegstad, board member  - through 

Imsight AS
7,150 0.1% 0 0

Azeem Azhar, board member 0 0.0% 0 0

Martin Patrick Moran, board member 0 0.0% 0 0

Christian Printzell Halvorsen, CEO - privately and 

through Tankeverket AS
27,500 0.3% 0 140,000

Jørgen Evjen, CFO 0 0.0% 0 0

David Gosen, CCO 0 0.0% 100,000 0

Ben Graham, CPO 0 0.0% 50,000 0

Elisabeth Monrad-Hansen, VP HR 0 0.0% 20,000 0

Total 73,327 0.8% 210,000 140,000

http://www.cxense.com/
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NOTE 20: INTEREST-BEARING DEBT 

Accounting principles 

Interest-bearing debt are initially measured at fair value net of transaction costs, and are subsequently measured 

at amortized cost using the effective interest-rate method 

Description 

As part of the acquisition of Enreach Solutions Oy (as described in note 3), the Group acquired interest-bearing 

debt in EURO amounting to USD 1.3 million. During the period 0.1 was repaid and the carrying amount per 31. 

December 2018 amounted to USD 1.1 million, of which 0.2 is short-term. The debt is repaid with approximately 

USD 0.2 per year until year 2023. 

NOTE 21: OTHER SHORT-TERM LIABILITIES 

 

NOTE 22: FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

Accounting principles 

Trade payables 

Trade payables are initially recognized at fair value, and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the 

effective interest method, if the amortization effect is material. 

Contingent consideration (earnout), see also note 3 for further description. 

The earn-out is measured at fair value at each reporting date, using the Monte Carlo simulation model.  

 

Categories of financial instruments 

1) Categorized as loans and receivables under IAS 39 

 

USD 1,000 2018 2017

Public duties payables 413 479

Contract liabilities 1,292 1,286

Accrued expenses 2,347 2,953

Other current liabilities 91 629

Total other short-term liabilities 4,143 5,347

USD 1,000 Category 2018 2017

Financial assets:

Investment in other shares and interests Measured at cost (IAS 39) -               197              

Other long-term receivables Financial assets at amortized costs 670              656              

Trade receivables Financial assets at amortized costs
1)

2,094 2,438

Other receivables Financial assets at amortized costs
1)

1,007 886

Cash and cash equivalents Financial assets at amortized costs
1)

3,009 10,247

Total financial assets 6,780 14,424

Financial liabilities:

Trade payables Measured at amortized cost 1,436 1,112

Other current liabilities Measured at amortized cost 91 629

Interest bearing debt Measured at amortized cost 1,123 -               

Earnout Measured at fair value through profit or loss 48 -               

Other long-term liabilities Measured at amortized cost 96 27

Total financial liabilities 2,794 1,769
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Fair value of financial instruments 

The carrying amount of all of the group’s current financial assets and liabilities is approximately equal to fair value 
since these instruments have a short term to maturity, and thus the time value is not material. Non-current 
financial assets and liabilities have been discounted to reflect the current value, except where the instrument is 
measured at fair value. 

Financial risk 

The most significant financial risks which affect the group are listed below. The management performs a 
continuous evaluation of these risks and determines policies related to how these risks are to be handled within 
the group.  

Credit risk 

Carrying amounts of financial assets presented above represents the maximum credit exposure. The group is 

mainly exposed to credit risk related to trade receivables and cash and cash equivalents.  

Trade receivables: The group does not have specific procedures for assessing credit risks for its customers 

before transactions are entered into. However, the group does not have significant credit risk associated with a 

single counter-party or several counterparties that can be considered a group.  

During 2018, the group reviewed its estimation method to accrue provisions for potential loss on trade 

receivables. This change reflects the risk associated with no of days outstanding and resulted in larger provision 

in 2018 for potential future losses in case of nonpayment from customers.  

The majority of customer contracts are invoiced quarterly in advance, with payment terms of 30 days, which limits 

the risk of losses. The collection policy and escalations for overdue invoices is followed for all customers and 

ensures there are no overdue invoices not actioned 

See Note 16 for information about the aging analysis of trade receivables. 

Cash and cash equivalents: The counterparties for the group's cash deposits are large banks that are assessed to 

be solid. It is assumed that there is no material credit risk associated with these deposits.  

Liquidity risk: 

Liquidity risk is the risk that Cxense will not be able to fulfill its financial obligations as they fall due. Good cash 

management shall ensure that available liquidity is sufficient to fulfill obligations at maturity. 

The company's strategy is to have sufficient cash and cash equivalents at any time to fund operations and 

investments in accordance with the company's strategic plan. The company still does not earn money and is thus 

dependent on the capital market to finance the company's operations until the company itself achieves sufficient 

positive results to cover operations, investments and working capital. In February 2019, a share issue of NOK 90 

million was carried out, which is intended to finance the company's strategic plan over the next few years. 

The group’s financial liabilities are mainly trade payables, which are all short term, as they are due within six 

months. After the acquisition of Enreach in 2018, the group now also has a long-term loan of approximately EUR 

1 million to Business Finland.  

Foreign exchange rate risk: 

Entities included in the consolidated financial statement have various functional currencies (NOK, USD, AUD, 

JPY, EUR, GBP and RUB). Currency risk arises due to balances in currencies other than the respective functional 

currencies.  

At 31 December 2018 and 2017, the group was exposed to exchange rate risk mainly due to trade receivables, 

cash deposits and payables in USD, EUR, JPY, GBP, AUD SEK and DKK in the parent company, which have a 

functional currency of NOK. 
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Sensitivity analysis 31 December 2018 

The sensitivity analysis reflects the risk in the parent company as the exposure in the difference subsidiaries 

against currencies different than their functional currency is limited.  

If the following currencies had strengthened/weakened 10% against the NOK as at 31 December 2018, the effect 

on the group's profit would have been: 

 

Capital management 

The primary focus of the group's capital management is to ensure that it maintains a healthy equity ratio in order 

to support its business and maximize shareholder value. The group manages its capital structure in light of 

changes in economic and actual conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the group may pay 

dividends to shareholders, purchase treasury shares, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. The group 

monitors its capital structure using an equity ratio, which is total equity divided by total assets. As at 31 December 

2018, the equity ratio was 57% (72% as at 31 December 2017). 

NOTE 23: RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 

Balances and transactions between the company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties to the company, 

have been eliminated on consolidation, and are not disclosed in this note. The group does not have other 

transactions with related parties, except for remuneration to management. 

Remuneration to management: 

Year ended 31 December 2018: 

 

1) Jørgen Evjen was employed as of 1 December 2018 

2) David Gosen, Ben Graham and Elisabeth Monrad-Hansen were employed 1 August 2018 

3) Share-based payment refers to the accounting cost of share options and subscription rights. No options or 

subscription rights were exercised in 2018 

 

Currency

Increase/  

decrease in 

NOK

Effect on profit 

before tax 

Increase/  

decrease in 

NOK

Effect on profit 

before tax 

EUR +/-10% +/-50.2 +/-10% +/-29.3

USD +/-10% +/-19.4 +/-10% +/-9.5

JPY +/-10% +/-12.7 +/-10% +/-21.7

SEK +/-10% -                    +/-10% +/-21.6

DKK +/-10% -                    +/-10% +/-45.9

ARS +/-10% +/-1 +/-10%

RUB +/-10% +/-77

GBP +/-10% +/-9.3

2018 2017

USD 1,000 Salary Bonus

Pension 

contribution

Share-based 

payment 3
)

Other 

remuneration

Total 

remuneration

Christian Printzell Halvorsen (CEO)         289            24                       2                     138                          1                     454 

Jørgen Evjen (CFO) 
1)           65              -                         1                         -                            0                        66 

David Gosen (CCO) 
2)         132              -                         3                        20                        43                     198 

Ben Graham (CPO) 
2)           90              -                         2                        10                          0                     102 

Elisabeth Monrad-Hansen (VP, HR) 
2)           43              -                         1                          4                          0                        48 

Jørgen M. Loeng (former CFO)         244            44                       2                        (5)                          1                     286 

John T. Sviland (former CBDO)         125            48                       2                        (3)                          1                     173 

Camilla G. Moen (former EVP, HR)         100            28                       2                      (30)                          0                     101 

Rolf Michelsen (former SVP Global R&D)         350              -                         2                          7                          1                     361 

Pankaj Saharan (former CTO)         123              -                       23                         -                           -                       147 

Total     1,560          144                     41                     143                        47                  1,936 
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The CEO is entitled to severance pay for a period of six months in case of termination. The severance pay is 

equivalent to six months of base salary and the company will make deductions in the severance pay for income 

earned or received from other employers during the severance period. The CEOs right to receive severance pay 

will cease if the employment is terminated as a result of gross breach of duty according to law or applicable 

company policy. The former SVP Global R&D had three months’ severance pay and the former CTO has two 

months’ severance pay. 

Year ended 31 December 2017: 

 

1) Commenced September 2017 

2) Share-based payment refers to the accounting cost of share options and subscription rights. No options or 

subscription rights were exercised in 2017 

Subscription rights to management 

 

None of the subscription rights are exercised in 2018. 

Remuneration to board of directors in the parent company 

The annual board remuneration amounted to USD 27,000 (USD 27,000 in 2017) for each board member not 

employed by the company. No board remuneration was payable to board members who were also employed by 

the company. Payment was based on the service period, in the manner that payment was made for the period up 

until the Annual General Meeting. Directors who were elected during the service period received proportionate 

remuneration, based on the actual service period. The chairman of the board received an additional USD 33,000 

(USD 33,000 in 2017) in annual remuneration. There is no additional amount paid for audit committee (USD 3,000 

in 2017). 

NOTE 24:  SUBSIDIARIES 

See also note 4 regarding disposals of the subsidiary Maxifier Ltd in 2018. As per 31 December Maxifier 

Development (legally owned by Maxifier Ltd) is not legally owned by Cxense ASA, but Cxense ASA are 

controlling the business through the sale-agreement.  

Cxense Ltd in Australia was liquidated in 2018. 

USD 1,000 Salary Bonus

Pension 

contribution

Share-based 

payment (2)

Other 

remuneration

Total 

remuneration

Christian Printzell Halvorsen (CEO) (1)           88              -                         2                        24                          0                     114 

Jørgen M. Loeng (CFO)         249          163                       2                        73                          1                     489 

John T. Sviland (CBDO)         160            74                       2                          5                          1                     243 

Camilla G. Moen (EVP, HR)         159            39                       2                        36                          1                     238 

Rolf Michelsen (SVP Global R&D)         155              -                         2                        10                          1                     168 

Ståle Bjørnstad (former CEO)         330          272                       2                         -                            1                     606 

Tom Wilde (former CPO)         431              -                        -                           -                           -                       431 

Vigleik Takle (former COO)         181            46                       2                        51                          1                     281 

Aleksander Øhrn (former CTO)         159            45                       2                         -                            1                     208 

Total     1,911          639                     19                     199                        10                  2,778 

Subscription rights

Granted 

in 2018

Vested in 

2018

Outstanding 

31.12.2018

Exercise price 

(NOK) Expiry date

Christian Printzell Halvorsen (CEO) 70,000 17,500 140,000 46.11 10.05.2022

Jørgen Evjen (CFO) - - - - -

David Gosen (CCO) 100,000 0 100,000 33.67 15.09.2023

Ben Graham (CPO) 50,000 0 50,000 33.67 15.09.2023

Elisabeth Monrad-Hansen (VP, HR) 20,000 0 20,000 33.67 15.09.2023

Total 240,000 17,500 310,000
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NOTE 25:  LEASES 

Accounting policies 

Financial leases 

Leases where the group assumes most of the risk and rewards of ownership are classified as financial leases.  

Operating leases 

Leases in which most of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor, are classified as operating 

leases. Payments made under operating leases are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over 

the period of the lease. 

 

Description 

The Group has finance lease agreements in the balance sheet of USD 67 thousand as of 31 December 2018 (27 

thousand as of 31 December 2017). 

The Group has entered into operating leases for office facilities. The lease costs consist of ordinary lease 

payments, and include: 

 

The future minimum rents related to non-cancellable leases come due as follows: 

 

NOTE 26:  CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 

Accounting principles 

Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the financial statements. Significant contingent liabilities are disclosed, 

with the exception of contingent liabilities where the probability of the liability occurring is remote. 

Description 

The group has not been involved in any legal or financial disputes in 2018, where an adverse outcome is 

considered more likely than remote. 

Principal activity 

according to segment Place of incorporation

Portion of ownership 

and voting power

Cxense Co., Ltd. Cxense SaaS Japan 100.0 %

Cxense, Inc. Cxense SaaS USA 100.0 %

Cxense Inc. NV Holdings Cxense SaaS USA 100.0 %

Maxifier Development Cxense SaaS Russia 100.0 %

Cxense Finland OyMaxifier Inc. Cxense SaaS Finland 100.0 %

Premium Audience Network, s.l.u. PCAN Spain 53.8 %

Name of subsidiary

USD 2018 2017

Lease office premises 1,346                1,379                

Other 32 50                      

Total lease costs 1,379                1,429                

USD 2018 2017

Within 1 year                 1,124 1,200                

1 to 5 years                 1,901 2,771                

After 5 years                        -                          -   

Total                 3,025                 3,972 
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NOTE 27:  EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 

Since 31 December 2018 and until the date of these financial statements, the board of directors is not aware of 

any matter or circumstance not otherwise dealt with in this report that has significantly affected, or may 

significantly affect the operations of the consolidated entity, with exception of the following: 

At 7 February 2019 an extraordinary general meeting approved a rights issue that was announced at 17. January.  

A number of 12,857,142 new shares were offered at a subscription price of NOK 7. At the expiration of the 

subscription period on 26 February the company had received subscriptions of 17,557,711 new shares and the 

right issue was accordingly oversubscribed by 37%. The rights issue resulted in gross proceeds to Cxense of 

NOK 90 million. 

The share capital increase was registered on 1 March 2019, the share capital of the company after the share 

issue is NOK 109,732,595 divided into 21,946,519 shares, each with a nominal value of NOK 5. 

The sale of PCAN (Premium Audience Network, s.l.u.), was closed in April 2019. 

For further stock exchange notices please see www.cxense.com. 

NOTE 28: NEW AND AMENDED STANDARDS ADOPTED   

The group has applied the following standards and amendments for the first time for their annual 

reporting period commencing 1 January 2018: 

• IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

• IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 

 

Transition to IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with customers 

The Group has applied the modified retrospective approach for transition to IFRS 15, which implies: 

• Comparative figures for 2017 are not restated. 

• Disclosures reconciling each financial statement line item in 2018 with the previous IFRS standards and 

interpretations are provided, see note 6. 

As a consequence of the implementation of IFRS 15, the following two changes have been done: 

• Free license periods are amortized as a discount over the contract period under IFRS 15. Previously, 

free periods were recognized when the customer received a free period.  

• Onboarding fee is not a separate performance obligation and recognized over the contract period. 

Previously, onboarding fee was recognized at time of execution of the onboarding. 

In summary, the following adjustments were made to the amounts recognized in the balance sheet at the date of 

initial application, 1 January 2018. 

 

1) Other short-term assets include line-accrued income of USD 261 thousand, which will be presented as contract 
asset under IFRS 15. No reclassification in the balance sheet. 

2) Other short-term liabilities include line prepayments from customers of USD 641 thousand, which will be 
presented as contract liabilities under IFRS 15. No reclassification in the balance sheet. 

USD 1,000

 IAS 18 

carrying 

amount 31 

December 

2017  Remeasurement 

 IFRS 15 

carrying amount 

1 January 2018 

Other short-term assets - contract assets 1) 1,672                56                         1,728                  

Deferred tax assets 16                     7                           23                       

Retained earnings (39,523)             (31)                       (39,554)               

Other short-term liabilities  - contract liabilities 2) 5,347                94 5,441                  

http://www.cxense.com/
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The income statement as reported 2018 had the following effects: 

 

Transition to IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (effective from 1 January 2018) replaces the old incurred loss model with an 

expected loss model. The new model implies a minor increase in provision for bad debt, as a provision will be 

recognized before any event has happened as required under an incurred loss model. The group has elected to 

use the simplified approach as described in IFRS 9.  

NOTE 29: NEW AND AMENDED STANDARDS NOT YET ADOPTED BY THE GROUP  

New standards and interpretations not yet adopted by the group 

There are a number of standards, amendments to standards, and interpretations which have been issued by the 

IASB that are effective in future accounting periods that the group has decided not to adopt early. The most 

significant is described below. 

 

IFRS 16 Leases (effective date 1 January 2019 and approved by the EU) 

IFRS 16 was issued in January 2016. It will result in almost all leases being recognized on the balance sheet by 

lessees, as the distinction between operating and finance leases is removed. Under the new standard, an asset 

(the right to use the leased item) and a financial liability to pay rentals are recognized. The only exceptions are 

short-term (less than 12 months) and low-value leases.   

 

The group has reviewed all of the group’s leasing arrangements in light of the new lease accounting rules in IFRS 

16. The standard will affect primarily the accounting for the group’s operating leases where the group is the 

lessee.   

 

The group will apply the standard from its mandatory adoption date of 1 January 2019. The group intends to apply 

the simplified transition approach and will not restate comparative amounts for the year prior to first adoption.  

Right-of-use assets will be measured at the amount of the lease liability on adoption (adjusted for any prepaid or 

accrued lease expenses).   

 

As at the reporting date, the group has non-cancellable operating lease commitments of USD 3 million, see note 

25.  Of these commitments, approximately USD 0.5 million relate to short-term leases and low value leases which 

will both be recognized on a straight-line basis as expense in profit or loss.  

 

For the remaining lease commitments, the group expects to recognize right-of-use assets of approximately USD 

3.8 million on 1 January 2019, lease liabilities of USD 3.7 million (after adjustments for prepayments and accrued 

lease payments recognized as at 31 December 2018) of which approximately USD 0.9 million is short-term. 

 

The group expects that net profit after tax will decrease by approximately USD 0.1 million for 2019 as a result of 

adopting the new rules.  

 

Operating cash flows will increase and financing cash flows decrease by approximately USD 0.9 million as 

repayment of the principal portion of the lease liabilities will be classified as cash flows from financing activities.  

USD 1,000

 Year ended 31 

Dec 2018  Adjustments 

 Without 

adoption of IFRS 

Revenue 20,235             165                   20,400                

EBITDA (3,644)              165                   (3,479)                 

Net operating income/(loss) (11,196)            165                   (11,031)               

Net loss before taxes (11,398)            165                   (11,233)               

Taxes 33                     (13)                    20                        

Total net loss for the period for total operations (11,716)            152                   (11,564)               
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IASB has also issued several small changes and clarifications in several different standards where the changes 

have not yet been implemented or approved by the EU. 

There are no other standards that are not yet effective and that would be expected to have a material impact on 

the entity in the current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable future transactions.  
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Financial statements for Cxense ASA 

PROFIT AND LOSS STATEMENT CXENSE ASA 

 

 

  

(Numbers in NOK) Note 2018 2017

Revenue 2, 3, 12 132,645,848 147,635,612

Cost of providing services 12 76,559,203 145,186,258

Employee benefit expense 4, 5 45,600,709 74,909,111

Depreciation and amortisation 8 17,687,144 23,953,231

Impairment of intangible asset 8 4,547,080 31,276,775

Other operating expense 6 40,943,524 35,768,519

Total operating expense 185,337,661 311,093,894

Net operating income/(loss) (52,691,813) (163,458,282)

Interest income from group entities 12 742,810 1,509,776

Other interest income 85,099 296,013

Currency gains 7,488,280 2,048,714

Other financial income 11 6,076,123 19,694,820

Total financial income 14,392,312 23,549,323

Interest expense to group entities 12 19,426 1,025,123

Other Interest expenses 41,046 69,345

Currency losses 5,229,475 3,117,239

Loss on sale of shares 35,407,401 59,426,919

Impairment of non-current financial assets 11 4,204,512 36,681,059

Total financial expenses 44,901,860 100,319,684

Net financial income/(expense) -30,509,548 -76,770,361

Net income/(loss) before taxes (83,201,361) (240,228,643)

Income tax expense 7 257,689 3,493,443

Net income/(loss) for the period (83,459,050) (243,722,087)

Result of the year (83,459,050) (243,722,087)

Transfers

Transfers from share premium reserve 16 (83,459,050) (243,722,087)

Total transfers and allocations (83,459,050) (243,722,087)
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BALANCE SHEET CXENSE ASA  

 

(Numbers in NOK) Note 2018 2017

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Intangible assets

Goodwill 8 0 0

Intangible assets 8 20,229,275 33,886,200

Total intangible assets 20,229,275 33,886,200

Tangible fixed assets

Office machinery, equipment etc. 8 4,528,720 3,566,231

Total tangible fixed assets 4,528,720 3,566,231

Non-current financial assets

Investments in subsidiaries 11 16,251,607 32,354,878

Investment in associated companies 11 647,018 3,406,505

Loans to group companies 11.12 21,327,482 17,160,613

Investments in shares 11 0 1,619,601

Deposits 2,773,172 2,775,707

Total non-current financial assets 40,999,277 57,317,304

Total non-current assets 65,757,272 94,769,735

Current assets

Receivables

Trade receivables 9, 12 23,924,004 23,009,523

Other receivables 8,513,260 14,401,497

Group receivables 12 15,058,864 24,939,527

Total receivables 47,496,128 62,350,548

Cash and cash equivalents 10 8,942,561 68,146,174

Total bank deposits, cash in hand, etc 8,942,561 68,146,174

Total current assets 56,438,689 130,496,722

Total assets 122,195,962 225,266,456Numbers in NOK

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity

Paid-in capital

Share capital 13, 14, 15, 16 45,446,885 44,790,060

Share premium reserve 16 40,513,344 114,220,157

Total paid-in capital 85,960,229 159,010,217

Total equity 85,960,229 159,010,217

Liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Long term liabilities 12 804,086 2,709,889

Total non-current liabilities 804,086 2,709,889

Current liabilities

Trade creditors 12 15,899,809 27,779,603

Public duties payable 3,188,106 4,189,400

Group payables 12 0 8,306,685

Other short-term liabilities 16,343,732 23,270,659

Total current liabilities 35,431,647 63,546,347

Total liabilities 36,235,733 66,256,236

Total equity and liabilities 122,195,962 225,266,454
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW CXENSE ASA 

 

(Numbers in NOK) Note 2018 2017

Cash flow from operating activities     

Net loss before taxes (83,201,361) (240,228,643)

Taxes paid in the period (257,689) (3,493,443)

Gain/loss from investment in associates 35,407,401 59,426,919

Depreciation, amortisation and impairments of fixed and intangible assets 22,234,224 55,230,006

Impairment of non-current financial assets 4,204,512 36,681,059

Share based payments 1,490,516 3,575,042

Change in trade receivables (914,482) (2,751,374)

Change in trade payables (11,879,794) 15,496,005

Change in other accrual and non-current items (8,253,889) (5,038,178)

Currency translation effects 461,985 89,252

Net cash flow from / used in (-) operating activities (40,708,577) (81,013,357)

                                          

Cash flow from investing activities                                           

Purchase of fixed assets (2,933,603) (3,756,020)

Purchase of intangible assets (6,317,293) (11,789,922)

Proceeds from sale of shares 0 0

Deposit 0 (1,648,971)

Loans to group entities (11,685,837) (33,911,180)

Sales of shares and investments in other companies 2,441,700 32,922,965

Purchase of shares and investments in other companies 0 (31,497,000)

Net cash flow from / used in (-) investing activities (18,495,033) (49,680,127)

                                          

Cash flow from financing activities                                           

Net proceeds from share issue 0 37,583,993

Net cash flow from / used in (-) financing activities 0 37,583,993

Net increase / decrease (-) in cash and cash equivalents (59,203,610) (93,109,491)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 68,146,171 161,255,662

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 10 8,942,561 68,146,171
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Notes to the annual financial statements Cxense ASA 

NOTE 1: GENERAL INFORMATION 

Cxense ASA is a limited liability company incorporated and domiciled in Norway, with its head office in Karenslyst 

Allé 4, 0278 Oslo. Cxense ASA is listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange (Oslo Børs). 

NOTE 2: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

Basis of preparation 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and generally 

accepted accounting principles in Norway.  

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for the fair value of contingent 

consideration in business combinations. 

The functional currency and the presentation currency of Cxense ASA is Norwegian Krone (NOK). 

The Statement of Cash Flow has been prepared according to the indirect method. 

Use of estimates 

Preparation of the financial statements requires the company to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 

reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. Actual results may ultimately differ from the 

estimates and assumptions used. 

Areas which to a great extent contain such assessments, a high degree of complexity, or areas in which 

assumptions and estimates are significant for the financial statements, are described in the notes. 

Revenue recognition 

In general, revenue comprises the value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods and 

services in the ordinary course of the company’s activities. Revenue is presented net of value-added tax, returns, 

rebates, and discounts. The company recognizes revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, 

when it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the entity and when specific criteria have been met 

for each of the company’s activities. 

Sale of right to use software  
Revenue from the use of the technological platforms is recognized in the month the service is provided. Revenue 

is based on fixed monthly software fees and/or royalty payments dependent on platform utilization. There are few 

difficult judgments in determining the amount of revenue.  

Income received from advertisers, and costs incurred from advertising agencies and publishers are presented 

gross, which reflects that the company does have separate transactions with separate counterparty risks. That is, 

the company does not act only as an agent in these transactions. 

Business combinations  

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for all business combinations, regardless of whether 

equity instruments or other assets are acquired. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary 

comprises the:  

• fair value of the assets transferred  

• liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquired business  

• equity interests issued by the company  

• fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement, and  

• fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the subsidiary  
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Identifiable assets acquired, and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are, with 

limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.  

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.  

The excess of the consideration transferred, amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity, and  
acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquired entity over the fair value of the net 

identifiable assets acquired, is recorded as goodwill. If those amounts are less than the fair value of the net 

identifiable assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognized directly in profit or loss as a bargain 

purchase.  

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the amounts payable in the future are discounted 

to their present value as at the date of exchange. The discount rate used is the entity’s incremental borrowing 

rate, being the rate at which a similar borrowing could be obtained from an independent financier under 

comparable terms and conditions.  

Contingent consideration is classified either as equity or as a financial liability. Amounts classified as a financial 

liability are subsequently re-measured to fair value with changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss. 

Goodwill  

Goodwill related to the acquisition of the Ramp business in 2015 and were amortized over a period of five years in 

Cxense ASA, according to Norwegian accounting principles, and tested yearly for impairment for the purpose of 

preparing consolidated annual accounts in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU. As of 31 December 

2017, the goodwill was written off. 

Intangible assets 

Intangible assets acquired separately that have a finite useful life are carried at cost less accumulated 

amortization and any impairment charges. Amortization is calculated on a straight-line basis over the asset’s 

expected useful life and adjusted for any impairment charges. 

Internally generated intangible assets 

Expenditures on development of the group’s technical platforms are capitalized, providing a future financial 

benefit relating to the development of an identifiable intangible asset can be identified, and the expenses can be 

reliably measured. Amortization is calculated on a straight-line basis over the asset’s expected useful life and 

adjusted for any impairment charges. 

Expenditures on research activities, undertaken with the prospects of gaining new technical knowledge and 

understanding, are recognized in profit or loss as incurred.  

Fixed assets 

Fixed assets are reflected at cost, less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.  

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the asset’s expected useful life. 

Direct maintenance of assets is expensed as incurred as operating cost, while additions and improvements are 

added to the cost of asset to be depreciated as the asset itself.  

Investments in Subsidiaries and Associates 

The cost method is applied to investments in subsidiaries and associates. The cost price is increased when funds 

are added through capital increases or when group contributions are made to subsidiaries. Dividends received 

are initially taken to income. Dividends exceeding the portion of retained equity after the purchase, are reflected 

as a reduction in purchase cost. Dividend/group contribution from subsidiaries are reflected in the same year as 

the subsidiary makes a provision for the amount. Dividends from other companies are reflected as financial 

income when it has been approved. 

Associates are all entities over which the company has significant influence, but not control or joint control. This is 

generally the case where the group holds between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.  
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Impairment of assets  

Assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount 

may not be recoverable. Intangible assets not yet brought into use are assessed for impairment annually. If it is 

not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the company determines the recoverable 

amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 

An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable 

amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell, and value in use. In 

assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value, using a discount 

rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money, and the risks specific to the asset or the 

cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 

An impairment of assets is reviewed for possible reversal at the end of each reporting period. 

Financial assets  

Financial assets representing loans and receivables are initially recognized at cost and subsequently measured at 

amortized cost, using the effective interest method. 

Trade receivables are carried at the original invoice amount less a provision for doubtful receivables, which is 

made when there is evidence that the company will be unable to recover the balances in full. 

Financial assets are presented as current, if the liabilities are due to be settled within 12 months after the balance 

sheet date. 

Financial liabilities 

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings are initially recognized at cost, and subsequently measured at amortized 

cost, using the effective interest method. Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any issue costs as 

well as discount or premium on settlement.  

Financial liabilities are presented as current, if the liabilities are due to be settled within 12 months after the 

balance sheet date. 

An earnout agreement are measured at fair value with changes recognized in profit and loss. 

Pension plans 

Cxense ASA has a defined contribution plan for its employees. The payments are recognized in the income 

statement as employee benefit expenses for the year to which the contribution applies. 

Share-based payments 

Share-based compensation benefits are provided to executives and senior employees. 

Equity-settled share-based payments are measured at fair value (excluding the effect of non-market-based 

vesting conditions) at the date of grant. The fair value, calculated by applying the Black-Scholes option-pricing 

model, is expensed over the vesting period as an employee benefits expense, with a corresponding increase in 

equity.  

The vesting period is the period over which all of the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied. At the end of 

each period, the entity revises its estimates of the number of options and subscription rights that are expected to 

vest based on the non-market vesting and service conditions. It recognizes the impact of the revision to original 

estimates, if any, in profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.  

Social security contributions payable in connection with an option grant are considered an integral part of the 

grant itself. The charges are treated as cash-settled share-based payments and re-measured at each reporting 

date. 
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When the options are exercised, the appropriate number of shares are transferred to the employee. The proceeds 

received from the exercise of the options and subscription rights (net of any directly attributable transaction costs) 

are credited directly to equity.  

Income tax 

The tax expense consists of the tax payable, and changes to deferred tax. Deferred tax is calculated as 22% 

(23% in 2017) of temporary differences, and the tax effect of tax losses carried forward.  

Taxable and deductible temporary differences which reverse or can reverse in the same period, are offset, and 

the tax impact is calculated on a net basis. 

Foreign currencies 

Assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are valued at the exchange rate on the balance sheet date. Exchange 

gains and losses relating to sales and purchases in foreign currencies are recognized as operating income and 

cost of goods sold. 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits with banks and other short-term highly liquid 

investments with original maturities of three months or less. 

NOTE 3: OPERATING INCOME 

 

The operating income is predominantly generated in the EMEA region. 

NOTE 4:  PAYROLL EXPENSES, NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES, REMUNERATIONS, ETC. 

 

The average number of employees in 2018 was 33 (52 in 2017). 

Share-based payments 

Since mid-2018, and from 2012 to 2014, the Company has had in place incentive share option plans available for 

employees in the Company and its Subsidiaries and affiliated companies. All future grants of share-based 

incentives shall be made under the share option plans, while issued and outstanding subscription rights under the 

former subscription rights plans (from 2014 to mid-2018) shall remain in effect in accordance with their terms.  

The exercise price of the share options for previous years is equal to the market price of the Cxense ASA share 

on the date of grant.  

(Numbers in NOK) 2018 2017

Sales revenues 54,596,787 46,584,376

License income 54,746,681 61,664,419

Royalty income 11,206,015 34,496,027

Other opererating income 12,096,364 4,890,789

Total operating income 132,645,848 147,635,611

(Numbers in NOK) 2018 2017

Salaries/wages 35,486,120 60,142,183

Share based payment 1,490,516 3,575,042

Sosial security fees 5,144,806 7,488,478

Pension costs 624,692 1,083,492

Other remuneration 2,854,575 2,619,916

Total 45,600,709 74,909,111



Annual report 2018 

 

75  

The exercise price for each granted share option under the 2018 Plan shall, at a minimum, equal the market price 

per share as of the date of the grant, which market value, shall equal the average closing price on the Company's 

share, as reported on the Oslo Stock Exchange, over a period of 10 (ten) trading days immediately preceding the 

date of grant of the share option. 

The share options vest over a four-year period, providing the employee is still employed by the group.  

 Amounts in NOK: 

Parameters connected to instruments granted in 2018 

 

*Weighted average parameters at grant of instrument 

Options 

Quantity and weighted average prices 

 

Overview of outstanding instruments  

 

Subscription rights program  

In the period from 2014 to mid-2018 Cxense had a subscription rights incentives program for employees, adopted 

by the board of directors. 

At the 2 April 2014 AGM, the shareholders adopted a new subscription rights plan available for employees in the 

company, and its subsidiaries and affiliated companies. At the 10 May 2017 AGM, the shareholders renewed the 

subscription rights plan adopted at the 2 April 2014 AGM and renewed 13 May 2015 and 12 May 2016.  

Unless specifically resolved otherwise, 25 percent of the subscription rights vest each 12 months following the 

date of the grant and expire on the fifth anniversary following the date of the grant. Vesting of the subscription 

Instrument

Quantity 

31.12.2018 

(instruments)

Quantity 

31.12.2018 

(shares)

Contractual 

life*

Strike 

price*

Share 

price*

Expected 

lifetime* Volatility*

Interest 

rate*

FV per 

instrument*

Vesting 

conditions

Option 269,000           269,000      5.00             33.67 37.10 3.00         45.44% 1.23% 12.83           Service time

Subscription Rights 195,000           195,000      4.10             45.49 42.38 4.10         70.00% 1.31% 21.92           Service time

Activity

Weighted 

Average 

Strike Price

Outstanding opening balance as of 1 January 2018 36,325           122.14           

Granted 344,000         33.67             

Exercised

Forfeited (75,675)          34.48             

Expired (29,025)          121.42           

Outstanding closing balance as of 31 December 2018 275,625         35.87             

Vested CB 6,625             125.00           

Number of instruments        

01.01.2018 - 31.12.2018

Strike price (NOK) 

Number of 

instruments

Weighted 

Average 

remaining 

contractual life

Weighted 

Average 

Strike Price

Vested 

instruments 

31.12.2018

Weighted 

Average 

Strike Price

33.67                                                            269,000         5.00                   33.67             -                  -                  

125.00                                                          6,625             4.98                   125.00           6,625             125.00           

Total 275,625         6,625             

Outstanding Instruments Vested Instruments
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rights terminate on the holder's last working day. Vested subscription rights may be exercised up to 90 days after 

the holder's last working day. 

Amounts in NOK: 

Quantity and weighted average prices 

 

Overview of outstanding instruments  

 

 

All share options and subscription rights vest over 4 years. The volatility is based on comparable companies.  

Mandatory occupational pension scheme 

Cxense ASA is required to have an occupational pension scheme in accordance with the Norwegian law of 

mandatory occupational pension. The company’s pension scheme fulfills the requirements of the law. The 

company has established a defined contribution scheme for all employees.  

Activity

Number of 

instruments

Weighted 

Average 

Strike Price

Outstanding opening balance as of 1 January 2018 478,325         73.67             

Granted 239,500         45.48             

Exercised   

Forfeited (257,250)       64.73             

Expired (50,125)          132.35           

Outstanding closing balance as of 31 December 2018 410,450         55.66             

Vested CB 94,950           82.65             

01.01.2018 - 31.12.2018

Strike price (NOK)

Number of 

instruments

Weighted 

Average 

remaining 

contractual life

Weighted 

Average 

Strike Price

Vested 

instruments 

31.12.2018

Weighted 

Average 

Strike Price

36.34                                                            70,000           4.67                   36.34             17,500           36.34             

39.23                                                            87,500           3.96                   39.23             33,125           39.23             

43.08                                                            40,000           4.08                   43.08             -                  -                  

46.11                                                            155,000         4.10                   46.11             -                  -                  

101.85                                                          5,000             5.00                   101.85           3,750             101.85           

109.40                                                          17,375           4.16                   109.40           15,750           109.40           

125.00                                                          7,575             4.89                   125.00           7,575             125.00           

165.80                                                          28,000           4.20                   165.80           17,250           165.80           

410,450         94,950           

Outstanding Instruments Vested Instruments

Subscription rights and share options Number

Subscription rights and share optons terminated in 2018 332,925

Subscription rights and share options exercised in 2018 0

Subscription rights and share options expired in 2018 79,150

Vested share options 101,575
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NOTE 5:  REMUNERATION TO EXECUTIVES 

 

Fee to the Board of Directors amounts to NOK 1,230,000. 

The CEO is entitled to severance pay for a period of six months in case of termination. The severance pay is 

equivalent to six months of base salary and the company will make deductions in the severance pay for income 

earned or received from other employers during the severance period. The CEOs right to receive severance pay 

will cease if the employment is terminated as a result of gross breach of duty according to law or applicable 

company policy. 

See also note 23 to the annual report for more information. 

NOTE 6:  AUDIT FEE 

 

VAT is not included in the audit fee 

NOTE 7:  TAXES 

 

 

Numbers in NOK thousand Salary Bonus

Total 

Salary

Pension 

contribution

Share 

based 

payment

Other 

remuneration

Total 

2018

Christian Printzell Halvorsen (CEO) 2,348 194 2,542 20 1,122 7 3,692

Jørgen Evjen (CFO) 525 525 9 1 535

Benjamin Graham (CPO) 729 729 13 83 2 827

Elisabeth Monrad-Hansen (VP, HR) 349 349 6 33 3 392

Jørgen M. Loeng (CFO) 1,986 355 2,341 20 -38 7 2,330

John T. Sviland (CBDO) 1,013 394 1,407 18 -24 4 1,405

Camilla G. Moen (EVP, HR) 815 231 1,046 14 -240 3 823

Rolf Michelsen (SVP Global R&D) 2,848 0 2,848 20 60 7 2,935

Total 10,613 1,174 11,787 120 1,163 34 13,104

(Numbers in NOK) 2018 2017

Statutory audit 654,404 627,713

Other assurance services 61,100 55,525

Other assistance 239,120 97,858

Total audit fees 954,624 781,096

(Numbers in NOK) 2018 2017

Income before taxes (83,201,361) (240,228,643)

Permanent differences and other changes 41,936,376 57,355,940

Change  in temporary differences (1,412,638) 47,201,736

Change in losses carried forward 42,677,623 135,670,968

Taxable income 0 (0)

2018 2017

Tax payable 0 0

Tax effect of group contribution 0 0

Tax payable 0 0

2018 2017

23% (24% ) of income before taxes (19,136,313) (57,654,874)

23% (24 %) of permanent differences 9,645,366 13,765,426

23% (24 %) Deferred tax asset not recognised 9,490,947 43,889,449

Withheld tax abroad 257,689 3,493,443

Tax on ordinary result 257,689 3,493,443
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The tax rate will change from 23% in 2018, to 22% in 2019. The deferred tax and the deferred tax benefit is 

calculated using 22%. 

Deferred tax benefits of NOK 132 101 148 are not reflected in the balance as at 31 December 2018. The 

company has not recognized any withholding tax assets in the balance sheet as at 31 December 2018. 

NOTE 8:  INTANGIBLE AND FIXED ASSETS 

 

Calculation of deferred tax/deferred tax benefit 

Temporary differences 2018 2017

Intangible/Fixed assets (34,861,391) (36,954,490)

Current assets (9,378,773) (8,626,711)

Current liabilities 0 (71,600)

Net temporary differences (44,240,164) (45,652,801)

Tax losses carried forward (556,219,602) (513,541,982)

Basis for deferred tax (600,459,765) (559,194,782)

Deferred tax (22/23%) (132,101,148) (128,614,800)

Deferred tax benefit not shown in the balance sheet 132,101,148 128,614,800

Deferred tax in the balance sheet 0 0

(Numbers in NOK) Equipment Machines

Total fixed 

assets

Purchase cost 01.01.2018 4,586,204 2,292,504 6,878,708

Additions 2,933,603 0 2,933,603

Disposals 0 0 0

Purchase cost 31.12.2018 7,519,807 2,292,504 9,812,311

Accumulated depreciation 2,991,087 2,292,504 5,283,593

Net book value 31.12.2018 4,528,720 0 4,528,720

Depreciation in the year 1,875,161             95,953                   1,971,114             

Expected useful life 3 years 3 years 

Depreciation plan  Straight line  Straight line 
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The assets acquired in the Ramp business acquisition are accounted for in USD, the functional currency of the 

Ramp business. This results in a currency translation effect for those assets. 

Capitalization of development expenses 

Research and development (R&D) is a highly important component of innovation. The company invests 

substantial resources in research and development to enhance the applications and technology infrastructure, 

develop new features, conduct quality assurance testing and improve the core technology. The company expects 

to continue to expand capabilities of the technology in the future, and to invest significantly in continued research 

and development efforts. These activities are very integrated, and there is often no clear distinction between 

them, making it difficult to assess if the activities are maintenance, research, or development. In 2018 NOK 21.7 

million were expensed R&D costs. 

Cxense received government grants of NOK 4.2 million (Skattefunn) in 2018.  

Goodwill related to the acquisition of the Ramp Video operation 

The recognized goodwill in Cxense ASA was attributable to expected synergies resulting from the combination of 

the Ramp video operation with the Cxense data-driven products. The goodwill was impaired in 2017.  

NOTE 9:  TRADE DEBTORS 

Trade debtors are recorded in the balance sheet at nominal value, less expected losses on debt. 

A loss of NOK 2 522 179 in trade debtors was recognized in 2018. 

 

NOTE 10:  RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS 

Included in bank deposits as of 31 December 2018 was an account for withheld employee taxes of NOK 

1,921,056. Withheld employee taxes amounted to NOK 2,586,040 at the end of 2017. 

(Numbers in NOK) Development

Patents & 

Licenses

Ramp 

customer 

relationship & 

technology

Goodwill   

Ramp

Total 

intangible 

assets

Purchase cost 01.01.2018 44,903,541 1,262,844 27,823,232 38,007,755 111,997,373

Additions 6,199,401 117,892 0 6,317,293

Disposals 0 0 0 0

Purchase cost 31.12.2018 51,102,942 1,380,737 27,823,232 38,007,755 118,314,666

Accumulated currency translation effect 341,543 234,517 576,060

Accumulated impairment 11,669,396 519,913 5,754,434 21,007,177 38,950,920

Accumulated amortization 25,860,264 770,487 15,844,685 17,235,094 59,710,531

Net book value 31.12.2018 13,573,282 90,336 6,565,656 0 20,229,275

Amortization in the year 11,093,638      301,056            4,321,336        -                     15,716,030      

Impairments in the year -                     519,913            4,027,167        -                     4,547,080        

Currency translation effect in the year 288,892            

Expected useful life 3 years 3-5 years 5-6 years 5 years

Depreciation plan  Straight line  Straight line  Straight line  Straight line 

(Numbers in NOK) 2018 2017

Trade debtors nominal value 24,966,429 19,120,322

Bad debts provision (1,042,424) (204,354)

Trade debtors in the balance sheet 23,924,006 18,915,969
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NOTE 11:  NON-CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS 

Investments in subsidiaries 

 

Cxense Australia PTY Ltd., a 100% owned subsidiary of Cxense ASA was wound down in 2018 and was officially 

deregistered in Australian business registers on 22 August 2018. A gain of NOK 4,042,483 was recognized in 

2018 due to the release of intercompany balances. 

On 30 April 2018 Cxense ASA acquired 100 % of the share capital of Enreach Solutions OY, a Finnish Data 

Management Platform provider. The transaction consideration is Cxense shares and includes a share-based earn 

out structure.  

A consideration of NOK 6 808 395 was settled with an issue of 123,789 shares at a price of NOK 55 per share. 

An additional 7,576 shares with a subscription price of 55 were issued to the seller on 18 October 2018 in 

connection to the final purchase price adjustment in the transaction agreement.   

The earnout agreement with the seller was valued at NOK 1,902,129 against the investment at the time of the 

acquisition. At year end 2018 the earn out was valued at NOK 418,754, the net change was recognized against 

as a financial gain and a reduction on the liability against the seller. Transactions costs of NOK 748,405 was 

booked against the investment. 

Maxifier Ltd, a 100% owned subsidiary of Cxense ASA, was sold on 18 December 2018. The sales price for the 

shares was NOK 1 509 708, all of which is subject to a vendor credit agreement with maturity date 1 January 

2021. Cxense retains ownership of the remaining 30% of Maxifier Ltd. Maxifier Development was not a part of the 

transaction. A loss of NOK 25,088,173 was recognized in the sale of the shares. An additional loss of NOK 

8,699,629 was recognized as a result of the release of intercompany balances. 

 

The sale of PCAN (Premium Audience Network, s.l.u.), was closed in April 2019. 

Investments in associated companies 

Set out below are the associates of the group in 2018. These associates have share capital consisting solely of 

ordinary shares, held directly by the group; the country of incorporation or registration is also their principal place 

of business. 

RepKnight Ltd 

On 14 February 2017, Cxense invested GBP 3 million in cash for a 30% stake in RepKnight Ltd. Cxense holds 

135,978 shares in RepKnight after the transaction. An impairment of NOK 28,090,495 was recognized by the end 

of 2017. An additional impairment of NOK 3,406,505 was recognized in 2018, the investment has a value of NOK 

0 in the Cxense ASA balance sheet after the 2018 impairment. 

Cxense holds a 15% ownership in Repknight at year end 2018.  

Maxifier Ltd 

Cxense ASA has a remaining ownership of 30% of the shares in Maxifier Ltd after the sale on 18. December 

2018. The fair value of the remaining 30%, now recognized as an associated company, was booked as NOK 

647 018. 

Subsidiaries Location

Ownership/ voting 

rights Booked value (NOK)

Cxense Co. Ltd Japan 100 % 709,015

Cxense Inc. NA Holding USA 100 % 29,980

Premium Audience Network S.L. Spain 54 % 5,637,003

Maxifier development Russia 100 % 0

Enreach Solutions Oy Finland 100 % 9,875,609

Subsidiaries held by subsidiaries Location

Ownership/ voting 

rights

Cxense Inc USA 100 %
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The buyer has an option to acquire further 50% of the remaining shares in Maxifier held by Cxense, 

corresponding to 15% of shares currently outstanding. The option expires on 20 November 2020.  

Loans to group companies 

At the acquisition of the Ramp video operation in 2015, customer relationships were allocated to Cxense Inc. On 

the other hand, a loan was given to Cxense Inc. The impairment of this operation indicated a revaluation of the 

loan to Cxense Inc. After an assessment by the management, an impairment of NOK 8,590,564 was recognized 

in 2017. 

An additional impairment of NOK 798,007 on the loan given to Cxense Inc. was recognized in 2018.The loan is in 

USD and is subject to currency effects and interests. 

NOTE 12:  INTERCOMPANY BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS 

 

 

 

(Numbers in NOK)

Loans to group companies 2018 2017

Cxense Inc. 16,548,604 15,995,803

Premium Audience Network S.L. 2,739,477 1,164,809

Enreach Solutions Oy 2,039,402

Total loans to group companies 21,327,482 17,160,613

Receivables subsidiaries 2018 2017

Premium Audience Network S.L. 8,755,437 7,534,364

Cxense Co. Ltd 11,289,844 5,756,774

Cxense Inc. 883,680 21,910,538

Enreach Solutions Oy 8,448,142

Maxifier Ltd 0 7,575,731

Total group receivables including 

intercompany trade receivables
29,377,103 42,777,407

Intercompany interest income 2018 2017

Premium Audience Network S.L. 243,024 178,755

Cxense Inc. 408,215 970,272

Enreach Solutions Oy 91,570 0

Maxifier Ltd 0 360,749

Total interest income from group 

companies
742,810 1,509,776

Dividend received from group companies 2018 2017

Emediate Aps 1) 19,694,820

Total dividend received from group 

companies
0 19,694,820

Payables subsidiaries 2018 2017

cXense Ltd 0 4,502,881

Cxense Co. Ltd 0 1,853,315

Cxense Inc. 0 10,520,972

Enreach Solutions Oy 452,001 0

Maxifier Development 6,462,323 0

Maxifier Ltd 0 12,366,538

Maxifier Inc 0 1,340,675

Total group payables including 

intercompany trade payables
6,914,324 30,584,381
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1) Emediate Aps was sold on 14 December 2017. 

 

NOTE 13:  SHARE CAPITAL 

The share capital of NOK 45,446,885 consisted of 9,089,377 shares, with a nominal value of NOK 5 each. The 
company has one class of shares.  

Issue of shares  

In connection with the acquisition of Enreach Solution Oy in 2018, the Cxense board resolved to issue 123,789 

shares with a subscription price of NOK 55 per share to the seller. On 18. October 2018 an additional 7,576 

shares, with a subscription price of NOK 55, was issued to the seller. The share issue represent ted a final closing 

adjustment of the purchase price.  

 

 

 

Capitalized intercompany R&D costs 2018 2017

Cxense Inc. 0 4,245,930

Maxifier Ltd 1,590,332 2,095,839

Maxifier Development 303,360

Total 1,893,692 6,341,769

(Numbers in NOK)

Intercompany interest cost 2018 2017

Emediate Aps 1) 0 877,581

cXense Ltd 19,426 86,004

Maxifier Inc 0 61,538

Total interest cost from group 

companies
19,426 1,025,123

Specification of intercompany revenue 2018 2017

Cxense Co. Ltd 22,208,987 2,462,900

Cxense Inc. 52,969,733 55,360,313

Cxense Ltd. 0 1,722,693

Emediate ApS 1) 0 4,215,789

Premium Audience Network S.L. 752,172 883,489

Total 75,930,892 64,645,184

Specification of intercompany costs 2018 2017

Cxense Ltd. 0 3,671,549

Cxense Inc. 28,354,278 68,351,188

Cxense Co. Ltd 0 24,920,698

Emediate Aps 1) 0 158,549

Maxifier Development 7,553,471

Maxifier Ltd 11,141,699 13,743,446

Enreach Solutions Oy 2,615,057 0

Total 49,664,506 110,845,430
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NOTE 14:  SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION 

20 largest shareholders registered in VPS as of 31 December 2018 

 

NOTE 15:  SHAREHOLDINGS OF SENIOR EXECUTIVES 

Shares owned directly or indirectly by executives and board of directors at 31 December 2018 

 

Shareholders Number of shares % Share

FERD AS 966,940 10.6%

ASAH AS 787,494 8.7%

Norron Sicav - Target 662,500 7.3%

VERDIPAPIRFONDET DNB SMB 515,368 5.7%

AKER CAPITAL AS 512,849 5.6%

POLARIS MEDIA ASA 467,528 5.1%

Charles Street International Holdi 416,666 4.6%

Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB 351,000 3.9%

HOLMEN SPESIALFOND 296,113 3.3%

Danske Invest Norge Vekst 280,000 3.1%

BIMO KAPITAL AS 272,613 3.0%

Norron Sicav - Select 242,500 2.7%

The Bank of New York Mellon SA/NV 200,000 2.2%

TVECO AS 165,000 1.8%

BIMO INVEST AS 150,080 1.7%

STRAWBERRY CAPITAL AS 122,001 1.3%

RAMS AS 121,888 1.3%

PESCARA INVEST AS 115,000 1.3%

WANI INVESTERING AS 102,469 1.1%

STOREBRAND VEKST VERDIPAPIRFOND 98,669 1.1%

Total top 20 shareholders 6,846,678 75.3%

Others 2,242,699 24.7%

Total 9,089,377 100.0%

Number of 

shares

% of total 

shares

Number of 

share options

Number of 

subscription 

rights

Lars Bjørn Thoresen, Chairman - privately and 

through LT Invest AS
38,677 0.4% 40,000 0

Liza Benson, board member 0 0.0% 0 0

Ingeborg Hegstad, board member  - through 

Imsight AS
7,150 0.1% 0 0

Azeem Azhar, board member 0 0.0% 0 0

Martin Patrick Moran, board member 0 0.0% 0 0

Christian Printzell Halvorsen, CEO - privately and 

through Tankeverket AS
27,500 0.3% 0 140,000

Jørgen Evjen, CFO 0 0.0% 0 0

David Gosen, CCO 0 0.0% 100,000 0

Ben Graham, CPO 0 0.0% 50,000 0

Elisabeth Monrad-Hansen, VP HR 0 0.0% 20,000 0

Total 73,327 0.8% 210,000 140,000
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NOTE 16:  SHAREHOLDER EQUITY 

Accumulated currency translation effects were - NOK 1,817,637 as of 31 December 2018 (NOK 124,167 as of 31 

December 2017). 

A total of 131,365 shares was issued in 2018 (see note 13 and 11). 

Specification of equity 

 

 

NOTE 17:  TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES 

Balances and transactions between the company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties to the company, 

have been eliminated on consolidation, and are not disclosed in this note. The group does not have other 

transactions with related parties, except for remuneration to management (see note 5 and 15 in this statement 

and note 23 to the group consolidated statements). 

NOTE 18:  EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD  

At 7 February 2019 an extraordinary general meeting approved a rights issue that was announced at 17. January.  

A number of 12,857,142 new shares were offered at a subscription price of NOK 7. At the expiration of the 

subscription period on 26 February the company had received subscriptions of 17,557,711 new shares and the 

right issue was accordingly oversubscribed by 37%. The rights issue resulted in gross proceeds to Cxense of 

NOK 90 million. 

The share capital increase was registered on 1 March 2019, the share capital of the company after the share 

issue is NOK 109,732,595 divided into 21,946,519 shares, each with a nominal value of NOK 5. 

The sale of PCAN (Premium Audience Network, s.l.u.), was closed in April 2019. 

For further stock exchange notices please see www.cxense.com. 

 

 

(Numbers in NOK) Share capital Share premium Total

Equity 31.12.2016 39,790,060 326,066,276 365,856,336

Share based payments 3,575,042 3,575,042

Private placement 5,000,000 32,583,993 37,583,993

Currency translation effects (4,283,067) (4,283,067)

Net loss for the period (243,722,087) (243,722,087)

Equity 31.12.2017 44,790,060 114,220,157 159,010,217

(Numbers in NOK) Share capital Share premium Total

Equity 31.12.2018 44,790,060 114,220,157 159,010,217

Share based payments 1,490,516 1,490,516

Share issue 656,825 6,568,247 7,225,072

Currency translation effects 1,693,473 1,693,473

Net loss for the period (83,459,050) (83,459,050)

Equity 31.12.2018 45,446,885 40,513,342 85,960,227
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Statement by the Board of Directors and the Chief Executive 
Officer 

We confirm that, to the best of our knowledge, the consolidated financial statements for 2018 have been prepared 

in accordance with IAS as adopted by the EU, as well as additional information requirements in accordance with 

the Norwegian Accounting Act, and that the financial statements for the parent company for 2018 have been 

prepared in accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and generally accepted accounting practice in 

Norway, and that the information presented in the financial statements gives a true and fair view of the company’s 

and the group’s assets, liabilities, financial position and results for the period viewed in their entirety, and that the 

board of directors’ report gives a true and fair view of the development, performance and financial position of the 

company and the group, and includes a description of the material risks that the board of directors, at the time of 

this report, deems might have a significant impact on the financial performance of the group. 

 

Cxense ASA  

Oslo, 9 April 2019 

 

 
 

 

Lars Thorsen  

Chairman of the board 

Liza Benson  

Board member 

Ingeborg Hegstad 

Board member 

 

 
 

Martin Moran  

Board member 

Azeem Azhar 

Board member 

Christian Printzell Halvorsen 

Chief Executive Officer 
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Auditors report  
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Definitions 

Alternative Performance Measures 

Cxense’s financial information is prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 

In addition, the company presents alternative performance measures (APM). The APMs are regularly reviewed by 

management, and their aim is to enhance stakeholders’ understanding of the company’s performance. APMs are 

calculated consistently over time and are based on financial data presented in accordance with IFRS and other 

operational data, as described in the table below. The alternative performance measures presented may be 

determined or calculated differently by other companies. 

 

QRR Quarterly Recurring Revenue (QRR) is the quarterly value of a recurring revenue 

contract. As an example, a recurring revenue contract with a revenue of USD 10 

thousand per month has QRR of USD 30 thousand (10 thousand *3) 

Closed New ARR The sum of all ARR for all contracts closed in a certain financial period 

Lost ARR (churn) The sum of all ARR for all contracts lost in a certain financial period 

Net New ARR New ARR – Lost ARR (Churn) 

EBITDA Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization. EBITDA corresponds to 

the “operating income before depreciation, amortization and impairment” in the 

consolidated income statement 

OPEX Operational Expenditure as presented according to IFRS 

Non-IFRS OPEX 

adjustments 

OPEX elements shown separately for the purpose of excluding them from OPEX 

OPEX adjusted OPEX + non-IFRS OPEX adjustments 

EBITDA Adjusted EBITDA calculated using OPEX adjusted instead of OPEX 

Capitalized R&D Capitalized software development cost as per IFRS 

EBITDA adjusted 

with capitalization 

add back 

EBITDA adjusted before capitalized R&D 

Gross margin Gross profit in percent of revenue 

EBITDA margin EBITDA in percent of revenue 

Annualized 

underlying organic 

growth 

Net new ARR from the quarter / quarterly SaaS segment revenue 

Sales quota 

equivalent 

A sales quota equivalent is 100% of a one sales quota. A sales rep has 100% of a sales 

quota. Sales Managers, Customer Success Managers and other individuals within the 

sales organization may have 75% or less sales quotas.  

Days sales 

outstanding 

Trade receivables divided by daily sales revenue (annual revenue / 365) 
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